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Aberdeenshire Council 

Management Commentary 

 

Purpose of the Management Commentary 

 

The Management Commentary is intended to inform all users of the annual accounts and help them assess how the Council has performed 

in fulfilling its duties. 

 

Strategy and Business Model 

 

ñAberdeenshire ï from mountain to sea, the very best of Scotlandò: this is the Councilôs vision, to be the best area and the best Council in 

Scotland. The Council Plan 2013 ï 2017 (http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/media/3821/councilplan2013-17.pdf) sets out how it will 

achieve this, through core outcomes and key priorities which are set out clearly for its communities, its employees, and to other public 

sector organisations, voluntary organisations and businesses. The current vision is underpinned by a series of principles guiding what we 

do and how we do it, and in turn supported by the three pillars of Early Intervention, Demography and Economic Development.  

 

The existing Council Plan which covered the financial year 2016/17 is now due for a refresh with work to develop a new four year Plan 

being prepared. The new Plan will be informed by evidence coming from a range of sources including feedback from communities and 

also informed by the political priorities following the May 2017 council election. 

 

The themes and outcomes identified in the Council Plan will work towards delivering the vision for Aberdeenshire in 2050. 

 

70 Councillors now represent Aberdeenshire across 19 multi-member wards, each with either three or four Councillors. The Councillors 

were elected in May 2017 and are responsible for providing community leadership, setting strategic direction, priorities and policies of the 

Council, representing the interests of local communities, promoting effective partnerships and scrutinising the performance of services,. 

 

Councillors fulfil their role through the decision-making processes of the Council and its Committees. The Council deals with strategic and 

corporate issues that impact across the whole Council. Following the recent review of governance, there are now four Policy Committees 

which provide opportunity for scrutiny and debate in relation to the core services of: Business Services, Infrastructure Services, Education 

and Childrenôs Services and Communities. Six Area Committees enable Councillors to debate and decide on local issues. 

 

In addition, the Audit Committee has a remit to review the adequacy of internal control systems, policies and practices employed to ensure 

compliance with relevant statutes, directions, guidance and policies, financial information presented to the Council, and risk assessment 

arrangements and procedures. The Committee does this by reviewing financial statements, management letters and reports to ensure 

compliance with relevant codes of practice 

 

The Committee manages the relationship with the Chief Internal Auditor ensuring that the Councilôs Internal Audit function is resourced 

properly and has appropriate standing within the Council and reviews the activities of the Internal Audit function, including its annual work 

programme. It also oversees all aspects of the Councilôs relationship with its external auditors. 

 

The Audit Committee receives and provides feedback on reports from the Integration Joint Board Audit Committee and reviews the 

effectiveness of the Councilôs delivery of Adult Social Work services on behalf of and under directions from Aberdeenshire Integration 

Joint Board. 

 

As part of the accounts for 2016/17, Group Accounts have been prepared to reflect the Councilôs significant interest in the Aberdeenshire 

Integration Joint Board and the Trusts and Endowments for which the Council is the sole trustee. Therefore this Management Commentary 

equally applies across the group of accounts. 

 

  

http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/media/3821/councilplan2013-17.pdf
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Throughout the financial year 2016/17, the Council has been led by 'The Partnershipô, comprising the 28-member SNP group and the 

óProgressive Allianceô containing the two Scottish Labour Councillors and the two Progressive Independent Councillors. Following the 

Local Government Elections in May 2017 the Council administration is led by a new administration comprising of the Conservative and 

Liberal Democrat parties along with a number of Independent Councillors.  Councillor Jim Gifford has been appointed the Leader of the 

Council with effect from 18 May 2017. 

 

Council services are managed and delivered through the Chief Executiveôs Service and three directorates: Business Services, 

Infrastructure Services and Education and Childrenôs Services. Alongside the directorates, Adult Social Work is managed and delivered 

by the Chief Officer of the Aberdeenshire Health and Social Care Partnership. Each directorate prepares a service plan that supports the 

delivery of the priorities in the Council Plan, identifying key projects and actions as well as key performance measures.  

 

Progress against Key Performance Indicators    

 

The Council is committed to being a high performing Council with an inherent culture of performance improvement. The Councilôs 

performance and improvement framework, Aberdeenshire Performs, supports the delivery of the Councilôs vision and the priority outcomes 

identified in the Council Plan. The Council Plan is supported by a set of Service and Business Plans with key measures and targets against 

which progress is measured, monitored and improved. Measures and targets include the statutory performance indicators as required by 

the Accounts Commission Direction 2014 and a selection of these are used to enable residents, communities and the Scottish Government 

to compare how Aberdeenshire Council performs against other Councils in Scotland. Performance against the statutory performance 

indicators is considered by the Local Area Network of scrutiny bodies and informs the annual shared risk assessment and resulting local 

scrutiny plan.   

 

The Council publishes an Annual Performance Report in September each year which is available to the public on the Councilôs website 

at http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/strategy-and-performance/about-performance/. 

 

The 2016/17 Annual Report will be considered by Aberdeenshire Council on 28 September 2017. 

 

All Scottish Councils report a range of performance data as part of the Local Government Benchmarking Framework.  The framework 

covers most major areas of public service delivery in Scotland and includes information about the costs of services, the outcomes being 

achieved and how satisfied residents are with services.  The most recent comparative data available is for the financial year 2015/16.  To 

see how Aberdeenshire Council compares to other Councils visit http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/strategy-and-

performance/benchmarking/ 

 

A summary of the most recent performance against the Councilôs key performance measures is given below to cover the period to 31 

March 2017 and performance can be viewed in terms of the guidance below. A core set of measures were aligned to the priorities at the 

commencement of the plan which have been used to evidence delivery of the priorities over the life of the plan. Overall performance has 

improved during the period 2013-2017.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Management Commentary (Continued) 

Key for annual performance: 

 

At least 50% of measures in this outcome are 
significantly below target (red) 

 

At least 25% of measures in this outcome are slightly 
below target (amber) 

 
The majority of performance measures are on target 

Key for trend analysis over life of Council Plan (2013/2017: 

 
Performance Improving over life of plan 

 
No Change or New Measure 

 
Performance Declining over life of plan 

http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/strategy-and-performance/about-performance/
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/strategy-and-performance/benchmarking/
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/strategy-and-performance/benchmarking/
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Aberdeenshire Council 

 

Financial Performance 

 

For 2016/17 the Council had a deficit on the General Fund of £1.725 million whilst the Housing Revenue Account broke even.  

 

In order to prepare the Councilôs accounts in the regulatory format, a number of specific items are reflected in the accounts which are not 

shown in the monitoring information during the year. The reconciliation of these positions is a key part of the Councillorsô Annual Accounts 

meeting in August.  

 

The main items reflected only in the Annual Accounts are: the Council incurred a deficit of £211,176,000 (2015/16: £69,134,000 deficit) 

on the provision of services. With a net surplus of £61,688,000 (2015/16: £10,082,000 deficit) on the revaluation of non-current assets 

and actuarial losses of £144,651,000 (2015/16: £51,719,000 gains) on the pension liabilities are taken into account, this gives total net 

expenditure of £294,139,000 (2015/16: £27,497,000 restated). This translates to an equivalent decrease in Total Reserves, as shown in 

the Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) and the Balance Sheet. 

 

When the net deficit is adjusted to take account of transactions that have been included on an accounting basis, there has been a reduction 

in the Councilôs usable reserves of Ã11,234,000 from £60,061,000 to £48,827,000. This was a planned strategy employed by the Council 

as many of these balances had been set aside for specific purposes such as Innovation projects, Business Transformation and the use 

of grants received in previous years where the associated expenditure was not incurred until 2016/17.  

 

Of the total usable reserves, £28,377,000 (2015/16: £27,655,000) is earmarked for specific purposes such as further Business 

Transformation projects, Innovation projects, the carry forward of balances by schools, improving the Education Learning Estate and 

Regeneration, £3,550,000 (2015/16: £4,423,000) is held for Repairs and Renewals purposes, £2,022,000 (2015/16: £1,690,000) is held 

as a reserve for Insurance purposes and £4,342,000 (2015/16: £7,015,000) is held to fund future capital expenditure. This leaves 

£2,000,000 (2015/16: £2,000,000) as a working balance for the ring fenced Housing Revenue Account (HRA), and £8,536,000 (2015/16: 

£17,278,000) as a working balance for all other purposes. The working balance on the HRA is in line with the Reserves Policy. The 

Reserves Policy indicates that the Council will maintain a minimum working balance of £10,000,000 on the General Fund, although this 

has been reduced to £9,000,000 for 2017/18. 

 

The movements in the working balances of the General Fund and HRA are set out in the following table: 

 General 
Fund 
Ãô000 

HRA 
Ãô000 

Working Balance at 31 March 2016 (17,278) (2,000) 

Use of Working Balance 7,017 - 

Deficit for the Year 1,725 - 

Working Balance at 31 March 2017 (8,536) (2,000) 

 

A comparison of expenditure on General Fund services with budget is set out in the following table: 

 
Budget 
Ãô000 

Actual 
Ãô000 

Variance 
Ãô000 

Business Services Committee 39,084 39,525 441 

Communities Committee 114,631 114,837 206 

Education and Childrenôs Services 291,906 293,496 1,590 

Infrastructure Services Committee 69,847 67,266 (2,581) 

Capital Financing Charges and Interest on Revenue Balances 30,042 29,902 (140) 

Gross Expenditure 545,510 545,026 (484) 

Income from Revenue Support Grant, Business Rates and Council 
Tax 

(535,496) (533,287) 2,209 

Net (Surplus)/Deficit Before Use of Reserves 10,014 11,739 1,725 

Replenishment/(Use) of Reserves and the Working Balance  (10,014) (10,014) - 

(Surplus)/Deficit - 1,725 1,725 

 

Management Commentary (Continued) 
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Management Commentary (Continued) 

 

Actual expenditure on the provision of General Fund services was within 0.3% of budget, which is positive. From a financial perspective, 

there are a number of variances from budget resulting in this net position.  

 

For example, in Education and Childrenôs Services, permanent teachers and out of authority placements were over budget. This has led 

to a review of the base budget within the Service to ensure that the service needs for teachers and out of authority placements are matched 

by an appropriate financial provision.  

 

Within Infrastructure Services, Building Standards, Development Management and Highways were over budget.  These were more than 

offset by savings in Roads, Winter Maintenance and Other Emergencies and Transportation and sales to third parties from Quarries have 

been higher than budget.  

 

The income from Revenue Support Grant received was as budgeted, however a re-alignment of income relating to probationers was 

transferred to the Education and Childrenôs Services budget. Income from Council Tax was below the level anticipated when the Revenue 

Budget was set due to lower than expected income being realised from empty properties as a result of the Council being able to remove 

empty property discount.  

 

The HRA was over budget as a result of increased premises costs, however the budget has been balanced through a reduction in capital 

expenditure funded from the HRA revenue budget. 

 

The Council agreed a capital programme by budgeting for capital expenditure of £145,067,000, after taking account of slippage of 

£1,615,000. Total capital expenditure was £125,540,000 of which £33,110,000 was spent on Infrastructure Services, £10,054,000 was 

spent on Communities, £40,629,000 was spent on Education and Childrenôs Services, £8,546,000 was spent on Business Services, 

£4,190,000 on the City Region Deal and £29,011,000 was spent on HRA Housing. Expenditure was funded by grants of £46,771,000, 

sale receipts of £5,451,000, revenue contributions of £19,249,000 and borrowing of £54,069,000. 

 

Projects completed during the year include the new Hillside Primary School, Kintore (Midmill) Primary School and Banff and Macduff 

Sporting Facilities. Work continued on the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route, and this project is expected to be completed in late 2017. 

 

There was an increase in long term borrowing of £99,632,000 in 2016/17 in line with the medium term financial strategy as the Council 

borrowed as planned at relatively low interest rates. 

 
A significant movement on the Balance Sheet was in relation to Pension Liabilities. The North East Scotland Pension Fund (NESPF) was 

revalued as at 31 March 2014, informing employer contribution rates for the three year period from 2015/16 to 2017/18. At that point, the 

Fundôs assets were sufficient to cover 94% of its liabilities, and the maximum deficit recovery period set at 19 years. The Councilôs 

contribution rate is 19.3% for the financial years 2015/16 ï 2017/18. Following the assessment of the liabilities at 31 March 2017, the net 

pension liability has increased by £159,274,000 since 31 March 2016. The calculations involved in determining this liability are particularly 

sensitive to the discount rate, which is set by the value of High Quality Corporate Bond Yields.  A lower discount rate means that a higher 

value will be placed on scheme liabilities. The discount rate has reduced from 3.6% to 2.6%, hence the deficit has increased considerably. 

 

It is important to note that NESPF has performed extremely well over the year with the asset value increasing from £3.182 billion to £3.810 

billion as at 31 March 2017. The increase of 19.8% is a significant gain due to high investment returns over the period. The methodology 

that will be used to calculate the value of liabilities for the next triennial valuation as at 31 March 2017 will not reflect the value of bond 

yields and will, instead, use real returns to determine the discount rate. 

 

The Aberdeenshire Integration Joint Board (IJB) had forecast a breakeven position throughout the year on a budget of some £300 million. 

The actual audited outturn position for the Board for 2016/17 was a very small surplus of £9,000. The IJB has received an unqualified 

audit opinion and will build on the financial management performance to support service delivery during 2017/18. 
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Management Commentary (Continued) 

 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

 

The Councilôs Risk Management Process uses a Risk Register structure which has been updated to align it with the current Council 

structure and to differentiate between strategic and operational risk. The Corporate Strategic Risk Register is aligned to the Principal Risks 

noted in the table below. Each of these will be managed by a Director and assigned to an appropriate Head of Service. Directorate 

Strategic Risk Registers will be aligned with their Service Plans and will identify those risks related to both Council and Service priorities.  

 

Operational risk registers will be maintained at Head of Service level and these will continue to be updated on a regular basis. The Risk 

Manager prepares a Quarterly Risk Management Review for the Strategic Leadership Team This review will be reported to members of 

the Audit Committee. 

 

Risk Management and Controls 

Management 
Confirmation of 
Controls 

Independent 
Assurance Governance 

Budget Pressures ¶ Budget setting process 

¶ Budget management at 
various levels 

¶ Service budget 
monitoring 

¶ Directorate budget 
monitoring 

¶ Internal Audit 

¶ External Audit 

¶ Committee 
reporting  

Changes in 
government policy, 
legislation and 
regulation 

¶ COSLA membership 

¶ SOLACE membership 

¶ Membership of 
professional bodies at 
corporate and individual 
level 

¶ Corporate Risk 
Management Steering 
Group 

¶ Internal Audit 

¶ External Audit 

¶ Care Inspectorate 

¶ Education Scotland 

¶ Committee 
reporting 

Workforce (attracting 
and retaining the rights 
skills, performance, 
reward package) 

¶ HR & OD policies ¶ Joint Consultative 
Committee 

¶ Service Management 
Teams 

¶ Directorate 
Management Teams 

¶ Strategic Leadership 
Team 

¶ Internal Audit 
 

¶ Committee 
reporting 

Business and 
organisational 
transformation 

¶ Project management 
process 

¶ Strategic Leadership 
Team 

¶ Project Manager 
reporting 

¶ Internal Audit ¶ Committee 
reporting 

Working with other 
organisations (e.g. 
supply chains, 
outsourcing and 
partnership working) 

¶ Partnership policy and 
partnership risk registers 

¶ Procurement policy 

¶ Strategic Leadership 
Team 

¶ Partnership reporting 
to lead service 

¶ Internal Audit 

¶ Care Inspectorate 

¶ Committee 
reporting 

¶ Partnership boards 

Reputation 
management 
(including social 
media) 

¶ General policies and 
procedures 

¶ Social media policy 

¶ Information Security 
Management Group 

¶ Directorate and 
Service Management 
Teams 

¶ Corporate Risk 
Management Steering 
Group 

¶ Care Inspectorate 

¶ Education Scotland 

¶ Internal Audit 

¶ Committee 
reporting 

Social Risk (e.g. 
population changes, 
demographic changes, 
crime, anti-social 
behaviour) 

¶ Community Planning 
Partnership 

¶ CONTEST 
Implementation Group 

¶ Serious and organised 
crime implementation 

¶ Strategic Leadership 
Team 

¶ Directorate 
Management Team 

¶ Internal Audit 

¶ External 
Organisations 

¶ Committee 
reporting 

Data Protection and 
Security 

¶ Information and Security 
Management Group 

¶ Operational controls 

¶ Corporate Risk 
Management Steering 
Group 

¶ Internal Audit 

¶ External 
Organisations 

¶ Information 
Commissioner 

¶ Committee 
reporting 
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Management Commentary (Continued) 

 

 
 
 
Risk 

 
 
Management and 
Controls 

 
Management 
Confirmation of 
Controls 

 
 
Independent 
Assurance 

 
 
 
Governance 

Environmental 
Challenges (e.g. 
extreme weather 
events, climate 
change) 

¶ Emergency planning 
arrangements 

¶ Business Continuity plans 

¶ Adaptation strategies 

¶ Resilience working group 

¶ Regional and Local 
Resilience 
Partnerships 

¶ Corporate Risk 
Management Steering 
Group 

¶ Emergency response 
and Business 
Continuity plan 
monitoring 

¶ Internal Audit 

¶ External 
Organisations 

¶ Committee 
reporting 

¶ Scottish 
Government 

 
Main Trends and Factors Likely to Affect the Future Development, Performance and Position of the Council's Business 

 

There are a number of developments, some already in place, that affect the Councilôs future performance and business. 

 

The Aberdeenshire Integration Joint Board was established on 6 February 2016 with responsibility for health and social care across 

Aberdeenshire from April 2016. A Strategic Plan including key performance measures was agreed which involved joint working with the 

Council, NHS Grampian, Third Sector organisations, private providers of health and social care, and the residents of Aberdeenshire. 

Coupled with this, the Social Care (Self Directed Support) (Scotland) Act 2013 which empowers people to direct their own care and 

increases choice and control over care needs will continue to be implemented. The changing demographics in the area continue to have 

a major impact with a forecast substantial rise in the number of adults aged over 75 during the next decade. 

 
Welfare Reform continues to impact significantly on workload and on the delivery of benefits. The Council is working with local and national 

partners to assist residents with these changes and has reviewed aspects of service delivery to provide advice and support to maintain 

tenancies and manage increased applications for discretionary payments.  

 

The Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 brought together and strengthened separate legislation on childrenôs services and 

childrenôs rights into a single comprehensive framework that includes early learning and childcare, Getting It Right For Every Child. The 

Education and Childrenôs Service continue to implement the provisions of the Act. 

  

The Waste (Scotland) Regulations 2014 have been implemented in part, with a ban on municipal biodegradable waste going to landfill by 

1 January 2021 expected. The Council is working collaboratively with neighbouring authorities with regard to the future management of 

residual waste.   

  

Aberdeenshire Council has for the first time set a Carbon Budget for the financial year 2017/18. The Carbon budget is the first to be 

established by a local authority in Scotland. Carbon Budgeting is a tool which can be utilised to ensure that each service is made 

accountable for reducing its carbon emissions and allows the Council to better manage its emission targets.  

 

The budget concept has been to allocate an allowance of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent (CO2e) emissions for 2017/18, with Directorates 

required to keep within this allowance over the financial year. As this concept develops each year, the CO2e allowance will be reduced in 

order to achieve the Councilôs own policy to reduce climate change emissions and to save the council money on avoidable energy use. 

 

The Scottish Government will continue the pace of public sector reform which will impact locally. This reform is based on four key themes: 

 

¶ Place - Integration of services through better partnership, collaboration and effective local delivery;  

¶ People - Developing the capabilities of the public service workforce and its leadership;  

¶ Performance - Embedding a performance culture to improve outcomes; and 

¶ Prevention - Shifting towards preventative spending ï preventing problems by intervening earlier. 
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The Council continues to demonstrate a long term plan to support a shift towards preventative spending, supporting early intervention and 

service redesign where appropriate whilst meeting agreed outcomes.  

 

In February 2017, the Council agreed budgets for 2018/19 ï 2021/22 on a provisional basis. These provisional budgets indicated a 

potential resource available to the Council of some £1 billion per year across revenue budgets, capital plans, reserves and the Health & 

Social Care Partnership resources. The prioritisation and balancing of this resource, aligned to the Council priorities is the focus of the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

 

Local Authority (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Scotland) Regulations 2016 

 

The Regulations have been applied from 1 June 2016 and were applied in financial year 2016/17. The new Regulations repealed a number 

of the provisions of the Local Government Act 1975, setting out the statutory arrangements for local authority borrowing, lending and the 

statutory loans fund. The implications of the main changes were reported to the Business Services Committee in March 2017. The main 

area that will require to be reviewed is in relation to the statutory repayment of loans fund advances. Local authorities are able to continue 

to use the statutory method until 31 March 2021. After this date the Council must change its policy to either use the depreciation, asset 

life or funding/income profile method. A full review will be undertaken in conjunction with our Treasury advisors and a decision will be 

taken prior to 31 March 2021 by Committee on which methodology to use. An update on the position will be provided in next yearôs Annual 

Accounts. 

 

Annual Accounts 

 

The Council is required to prepare Annual Accounts by the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, of which section 12 of 

the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 requires to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices 

primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 (the Code) and the Service 

Reporting Code of Practice 2016/17 (SeRCOP), supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance 

issued under section 12 of the 2003 Act. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On behalf of the Councillors and Strategic Leadership Team 

21 September 2017 
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Jim Gifford Jim Savege Alan Wood 

Leader of the Council Chief Executive Head of Finance 
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Remuneration Report  

 

Introduction 

 

The remuneration report has been prepared in accordance with the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014. These 

Regulations require various disclosures about the remuneration and pension benefits of senior councillors and senior employees.  

 

The term ñsenior councillorò means the Leader of the Council, the Provost, the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Joint Boards, and any Senior 

Councillor who holds a significant position of responsibility in the Councilôs political management structure, all as defined by regulation 2 

of the Local Governance (Scotland) Act 2004 (Remuneration) Regulations 2007. 

 

The term Senior Employee means any local authority employee: 

 

1. who has responsibility for the management of the local authority to the extent that the person has the power to direct or 

control the major activities of the authority (including activities involving the expenditure of money), during the year to which 

the report relates, whether solely or collectively with other persons;  

 

2. who holds a post that is politically restricted by reason of section 2(1) (a), (b) or (c) of Local Government and Housing Act 

1989; or 

 

3. whose annual remuneration, including any remuneration from a local authority subsidiary body, is £150,000 or more.  

 

This report will provide background on the arrangements for determining salary levels followed by detailed tables showing the 

remuneration and pension benefits for senior councillors and officers covered by this report.    

 

Arrangements for Remuneration 

 

The Full Council sets the remuneration levels for Senior Councillors and the rates of pay for senior employees. Its role is to ensure the 

application and implementation of fair and equitable systems for pay within the guidelines of and as determined by the Scottish Ministers 

and the Scottish Government. In reaching its decisions, the Council has to consider the need to recruit, retain and motivate suitably able 

and qualified people to deliver the policies and services of the Council.  

 

Councillors, Senior Councillors, Council Leader and Provost 

 

The remuneration of the Leader of the Council, the Provost and Councillors is regulated by the Local Governance (Scotland) Act 2004 

(Remuneration) Amendment Regulations 2016. The Leader of the Council and the Provost cannot be the same person for the purposes 

of payment of remuneration. The total remuneration that may be paid to the Leader and the Provost is set out in the regulations.   

 

In accordance with the regulations Aberdeenshire Council may have up to 19 Senior Councillor posts. The regulations set out the 

maximum that the Council may pay as remuneration to its Senior Councillors. For 2016/17 the salary for the Leader of Aberdeenshire 

Council is £39,418 (2015/16 £39,028). Since the appointment of Co-Leaders in June 2015, this salary has been paid on an alternate 

month basis to the incumbents in this post. The maximum yearly amount that may be paid to a Senior Councillor is 75 per cent of the total 

yearly amount payable to the Leader of the Council.   

 

The Council is able to exercise local flexibility in the determination of the precise number of Senior Councillors and their salary grade 

within these maximum limits. The remuneration paid to senior councillors totalled £498,982 (2015/16 £503,326) and is detailed in Table 

B of this report.  
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Remuneration Report (Continued) 

 

The regulations also permit the Council to pay contributions or other payments as required to the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(LGPS) in respect of those councillors who have elected to become members of the pension scheme. 

  

The Aberdeenshire Council Membersô Salaries and Expenses Scheme which includes the salaries, allowances and expenses of all elected 

members including the Leader, Provost and Senior Councillors was agreed at a meeting of the full Council on 17 May 2007. 

 

Senior Employees ï Aberdeenshire Council 

 

The remuneration of senior employees is set by reference to national arrangements. The Scottish Joint Negotiating Committee (SJNC) 

for Local Authority Services sets the salaries for the Chief Executives of Scottish local authorities.  

 

The revised salary structure for Corporate Directors was approved by Full Council in January 2009 under which the salaries are based on 

SJNC Point 53. The Policy and Resources Committee agreed to a revised salary structure in June 2009 for Heads of Service where they 

would be paid at SJNC Point 34. Where the statutory roles of Section 95 officer, Monitoring Officer and Chief Social Work Officer are held 

at Head of Service level the jobholders are entitled to an additional two increments to their salary which places them on SJNC Point 36.    

 

Aberdeenshire Council does not pay bonuses to senior officers or performance related pay. Chief Officers receive business mileage and 

subsistence allowances in accordance with amounts either agreed nationally by SJNC or as approved locally. Chief Officers are eligible 

to join the LGPS. The scheme is outlined on page 19 and the costs identified on page 17 of this report. 

 

Remuneration  

 

The term remuneration means gross salary, fees and bonuses, allowances and expenses, and compensation for loss of employment. It 

excludes pension contributions paid by the Council. Pension contributions made to a personôs pension are disclosed as part of the pension 

benefits disclosure. 

 

Table A: Payments to Councillors 

 

The Council paid the following salaries, allowances and expenses to all Councillors (including the Senior Councillors below) during the 

year: 

 

2015/16 
Ãô000 Type of Remuneration 

2016/17 
Ãô000 

1,592 Salaries 1,601 

119 Expenses 117 

1,711 Totals 1,718 

 

The annual return of Councillorsô salaries and expenses for 2016/17 is available for any member of the public to view at all Council libraries 

and public offices during normal working hours and is also available on the Councilôs website at http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk. 
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Table B: Remuneration and Pension Benefits of Senior Councillors, Convenors and Vice-Convenors 

 

Total 
Remunôn 

2015/16 
£ 

Pension 
Contôs 

2015/16 
£ Name  

Salaries, 
Fees and 

Allowances 
2016/17 

£ 

Total 
Remunôn 

2016/17 
£ 

Pension 
Contôs 

2016/17 
£  

As at 31 
March 2017 

Ãô000 

Difference 
from 31 

March 2016 
Ãô000 

31,978 6,172 Richard Thomson 34,544 34,544 6,667 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
3 
- 

1 
- 

24,113 4,654 Alison Evison 32,028 32,028 6,181 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
2 
- 

1 
- 

32,713 6,314 Martin Kitts-Hayes 14,782 14,782 2,853 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
3 

21 
(1) 
19 

25,181 4,860 James Gifford 22,173 22,173 4,279 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
3 
2 

(1) 
- 

5,159 996 Isobel Davidson - - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

29,272 5,649 Gillian Owen 29,565 29,565 5,706 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
4 
2 

1 
- 

24,113 - Anne Allan 29,565 29,565 - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

18,177 - Charles Buchan 22,173 22,173 - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

3,776 - Ron McKail - - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

18,177 3,508 Stephen Smith 22,173 22,173 4,279 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
4 
3 

1 
- 

3,776 729 Alan Buchan - - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

18,177 3,508 Ross Cassie  22,173 22,173 4,279 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
1 
- 

- 
- 

18,177 3,508 Raymond Christie 22,173 22,173 4,279 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
2 
- 

- 
- 

3,776 729 Alisan Norrie - - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

27,888 - Hamish Vernal 29,565 29,565 - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

284,453 40,627 CARRIED FORWARD 280,914 280,914 38,523  50 21 
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Table B: Remuneration and Pension Benefits of Senior Councillors, Convenors and Vice-Convenors (Continued) 

 

Total 
Remunôn 

2015/16 
£ 

Pension 
Contôs 

2015/16 
£ Name  

Salaries, 
Fees and 

Allowances 
2016/17 

£ 

Total 
Remunôn 

2016/17 
£ 

Pension 
Contôs 

2016/17 
£  

As at 31 
March 2017 

Ãô000 

Difference 
from 31 

March 2016 
Ãô000 

284,453 40,627 BROUGHT FORWARD 280,914 280,914 38,523  50 21 

5,159 996 Jill Webster - - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

21,144 4,081 Allison Grant 22,173 22,173 4,279 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
3 
1 

- 
- 

4,467 - Norman Smith - - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

24,113 4,654 David Aitchison 29,565 29,565 5,706 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
2 
- 

1 
- 

5,159 996 Peter Argyle - - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

5,159 996 Karen Clark - - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

25,612 4,943 John Cox 25,869 25,869 4,993 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
2 
- 

1 
- 

25,612 4,943 Stuart Pratt 25,869 25,869 4,993 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
4 
2 

- 
- 

25,612 4,943 Rob Merson  25,869 25,869 4,993 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
4 
2 

1 
- 

25,612 4,943 Fergus Hood 25,869 25,869 4,993 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
2 
- 

(1) 
- 

25,612 - Carl Nelson 25,869 25,869 - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

25,612 4,943 Moira Ingleby 25,869 25,869 4,993 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
5 
2 

1 
- 

- - Graeme Clark 11,116 11,116 2,145 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

503,326 77,065 TOTALS 498,982 498,982 75,618  79 24 
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Table B: Remuneration and Pension Benefits of Senior Councillors, Convenors and Vice-Convenors (Continued) 

 
Name Post Title Period in Office  Name Post Title Period in Office 
       

Richard 
Thomson 

Co-Leader of the Council  
Chair ï Business Services Committee 
Chair ï Policy and Resources Committee 
Vice Chair ï Policy and Resources Committee 
Vice Chair ï Scrutiny and Audit Committee 

From 8 June 2015  
From 26 January 2017  
1 September 2016 to 25 January 2017 
8 June 2015 to 31 August 2016 
Until 7 June 2015 

 Hamish Vernal Provost 
Leader of the Opposition 

From 8 June 2015 
Until 7 June 2015 
 

Alison Evison Co-Leader of the Council 
Chair ï Education and Childrenôs Services Committee  
Chair ï Education, Learning and Leisure Committee 

From 29 September 2016 
From 26 January 2017 
8 June 2015 to 25 January 2017 

 Jill Webster Provost Until 7 June 2015 

Martin  
Kitts-Hayes 

Co-Leader of the Council 
Chair ï Policy and Resources Committee 
Vice Chair ï Policy and Resources Committee 

8 June 2015 to 31 August 2016 
8 June 2015 to 31 August 2016 
Until 7 June 2015 

 Allison Grant Deputy Provost From 8 June 2015 

James Gifford Leader of the Main Opposition  
Leader of the Council 
Chair - Policy and Resources Committee 

From 8 June 2015 
Until 7 June 2015 
Until 7 June 2015 

 Norman Smith Deputy Provost Until 7 June 2015 

Isobel 
Davidson 

Chair ï Education, Learning and Leisure Committee Until 7 June 2015  David 
Aitchison 

Chair ï Infrastructure Services 
Committee 

From 8 June 2015 

Gillian Owen Chair ï Audit Committee 
Chair ï Scrutiny and Audit Committee 

From 26 January 2017 
8 June 2015 to 25 January 2017 

 Peter Argyle Chair - Infrastructure Services 
Committee 

Until 7 June 2015 

Anne Allan Chair ï Communities Committee 
Chair ï Social Work and Housing Committee 

From 26 January 2017 
8 June 2015 to 25 January 2017 

 Karen Clark Chair ï Social Work and Housing 
Committee 

Until 7 June 2015 

Charles 
Buchan 

Vice Chair ï Education and Childrenôs Services 
Committee 
Vice Chair ï Education, Learning and Leisure 
Committee 

From 26 January 2017 
 
8 June 2015 to 25 January 2017 

 John Cox Chair - Banff and Buchan Area 
Committee 

From 1 April 2015 

Ron McKail Vice Chair ï Education, Learning and Leisure 
Committee 

Until 7 June 2015  Stuart Pratt Chair - Buchan Area Committee From 1 April 2015 

Stephen Smith Vice Chair ï Business Services Committee 
Vice Chair ï Policy and Resources Committee 
 
Vice Chair ï Infrastructure Services Committee 

From 26 January 2017 
29 September 2016 to 25 January 
2017 
8 June 2015 to 28 September 2016 

 Rob Merson Chair - Formartine Area Committee From 1 April 2015 

Alan Buchan Vice Chair ï Infrastructure Services Committee Until 7 June 2015  Fergus Hood Chair - Garioch Area Committee From 1 April 2015 

Ross Cassie Vice Chair ï Audit Committee 
Vice Chair ï Scrutiny and Audit Committee 

From 26 January 2017 
8 June 2015 to 25 January 2017 

 Carl Nelson Chair - Kincardine and Mearns Area 
Committee 

From 1 April 2015 

Raymond 
Christie 

Vice Chair ï Communities Committee 
Vice Chair ï Social Work and Housing Committee 

From 26 January 2017 
8 June 2015 until 25 January 2017 

 Moira Ingleby Chair - Marr Area Committee From 1 April 2015 

Alison Norrie Vice Chair ï Social Work and Housing Committee Until 7 June 2015  Graeme Clark Vice Chair ï Infrastructure Services 
Committee 

From 29 September 
2016 
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Notes to Table B: 

 

Note 1 ï The scheme for Councillorôs allowances is not the same as that for MPs, MEPs or MSPs.  Councillors receive a basic salary and are entitled to claim for a limited range of expenses. These are limited 

to essential travel and subsistence directly related to their duties as Councillors.   

 

Note 2 ï The figures shown reflect the remuneration for the period of their appointment in the reporting years. 

 

Note 3 ï No senior councillor received any remuneration from a subsidiary body as a representative of the Council. 

 

Note 4 ï The column titled ñTotal Cost of Councillors (non-taxable expenses, NI and Superannuation)ò contains the information reported each year on the cost of councillors which is published on the Councilôs 

website. 

 

Note 5 ï For 2016/17 there was no payment for Bonuses, Taxable Expenses, Compensation for Loss of Employment, and Non-Cash Benefits. These columns have been removed from the above table.
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Table C: Remuneration and Pension Benefits of Senior Employees 

 

Total 
Remuneration 

2015/16 
£ 

Pension 
Contributions 

2015/16 
£ Name and Post Title 

Salaries, 
Fees and 

Allowances 
2016/17 

£ 

Total 
Remuneration 

2016/17 
£ 

Pension 
Contributions 

2016/17 
£  

As at  
31 March 2017 

Ãô000 

Difference 
from  

31 March 2016 
Ãô000 

148,022 28,344 Jim Savege : Chief Executive 158,872 158,872 28,038 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
6 
- 

3 
- 

113,716 21,947 
Maria Walker : Director of Education and Childrenôs 
Services 

115,564 115,564 22,167 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
61 

134 
3 
1 

113,716 21,947 Stephen Archer : Director of Infrastructure Services 114,853 114,853 22,167 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
76 

- 
3 
- 

113,716 21,947 
Ritchie Johnson : Director of Business Services 
(From 1 October 2015) : Director of Communities 
(Until 30 September 2015) 

115,718 115,718 22,167 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
40 
72 

3 
1 

19,305 3,668 
 
Christine Gore : Director of Business Services (Until 
8 May 2015) (Full Year Equivalent - £113,716) 

- - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

93,731 18,059 

 
Alan Wood : Director of Business Services (From 1 
June 2015 until 30 September 2015) (Full Year 
Equivalent -  £113,716) : Head of Service (Finance) 
(Except For 1 June 2015 to 30 September 2015) 
(Full Year Equivalent - £83,457) 

84,670 84,670 16,268 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
31 
56 

(1) 
(6) 

27,395 5,287 

 
Alex Stephen : Head of Service (Finance) (From 1 
June 2015 until 30 September 2015) (Full Year 
Equivalent - £83,457) 

- - - 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
- 
- 

- 
- 

83,457 16,107 
 
Robert Driscoll : Head of Service (Chief Social Work 
Officer) 

84,292 84,292 16,268 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
38 
80 

2 
1 

83,802 16,107 
Karen Wiles : Head of Service (Legal and 
Governance) 

85,321 85,321 16,268 
Pension 

Lump Sum 
11 

- 
1 
- 

796,860 153,413 TOTALS 759,290 759,290 143,343  605 11 
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Notes to Table C: 

 

The figure for gross salary, fees and allowances shown for the Chief Executive for the year ended 31 March 2017 includes £18,770 

received as the Returning Officer for Aberdeenshire in respect of the 2015 Westminster Election, the 2016 Scottish Parliamentary Election, 

the EU Referendum and Local Council By-Elections. 

 

The Director of Education and Childrenôs Services, the Director of Business Services, the Head of Service (Finance) and the Head of 

Service (Legal and Governance) also received payments relating to the 2016 Scottish Parliamentary Election, the EU Referendum and 

Local Council By-Elections of £711, £865, £379 and £1,029 respectively during the year ended 31 March 2017. 

 

For 2016/17 there was no payment for Bonuses, Taxable Expenses, Compensation for Loss of Employment, and Non-Cash Benefits.  

These columns have been removed from the above table.    

 

Table D: Remuneration of Employees receiving more than £50,000 

 

The Councilôs employees receiving more than Ã50,000 remuneration for the year were paid the following amounts. In accordance with the 

disclosure requirement of the Regulations, the information in the table shows the number of employees in bands of £5,000. This 

information includes the senior employees who are subject to the fuller disclosure requirements in the tables above. 

 

 No of Employees 

Remuneration Bands 2016/17 2015/16 

£50,000 - £54,999 187 150 

£55,000 - £59,999 43 40 

£60,000 - £64,999 26 13 

£65,000 - £69,999 9 4 

£70,000 - £74,999 1 7 

£75,000 - £79,999 5 19 

£80,000 - £84,999 20 6 

£85,000 - £89,999 1 - 

£90,000 - £94,999 1 1 

£95,000 - £99,999 2 - 

£100,000 - £104,999 - - 

£105,000 - £109,999 1 - 

£110,000 - £114,999 1 3 

£115,000 - £119,999 2 - 

£120,000 - £124,999              - - 

£125,000 - £129,999 - - 

£130,000 - £134,999 - - 

£135,000 - £139,999 - - 

£140,000 - £144,999 - - 

£145,000 - £149,999 - 1 

£150,000 - £154,999 - - 

£155,000 > 1 - 

TOTALS 300 244 
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Pension Benefits 

 

The majority of senior councillors and senior employees shown in the tables above are members of the LGPS. For benefits accrued before 

the 31 March 2015, the schemeôs normal retirement age for both councillors and employees is 65.  For benefits accrued after the 1 April 

2015 the schemeôs retirement age for both councillors and employees will be his or her ñNormal Pension Ageò. 

 

Elected membersô pension benefits are based on a ñcareer averageò pay which is the aggregate of each yearôs pay (adjusted for inflation) 

divided by the total number of years and part years they have been a member of the LPGS.   

 

The LGPS provides pension benefits on retirement. For council officers their pension benefits are based on the memberôs pensionable 

service (how long he or she has been a member of the LGPS) and his or her salary.  

 

For service up to 31 March 2009, the annual pension is calculated by dividing the final pensionable pay by 80 and multiplying this by their 

total membership as at 31 March 2009.   

 

The lump sum, which is automatically paid when the person retires for service up to 31 March 2009, is normally three times his or her 

annual pension and is tax-free. 

 

For service between the 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2015, the annual pension is calculated by dividing the final pensionable pay by 60 

and multiplying this by their total membership between the 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2015. 

 

For service after the 31 March 2015, the annual pension is calculated by dividing the pensionable pay by 49 and then adding this to his 

or her cumulative pension account, which will subsequently be adjusted in line with the cost of living. 

 

There is no automatic lump sum for service after 31 March 2009 and LGPS members may opt to give up (commute) pension for lump 

sum up to the limit set by the Finance Act 2004.   

 

A Scheme memberôs pension contribution depends on his or her full-time equivalent pay. From 1 April 2009, a five tier contribution system 

was introduced with contributions from members being based on how much pay falls into each tier.  

 

Tier Bandings for 2016/17 and 2015/16 Contribution Rates 

Earnings up to and including £20,500 5.50% 

Earnings above £20,500 and up to £25,000 7.25% 

Earnings above £25,000 and up to £34,400 8.50% 

Earnings above £34,400 and up to £45,800 9.50% 

Earnings above £45,800 12.00% 

 

The value of the accrued benefits shown in this report have been calculated on the basis of the age at which the person will first become 

entitled to receive a full pension on retirement without reduction on account of its payment at that age; without exercising any option to 

commute pension entitlement into a lump sum; and without any adjustment for the effects of future inflation. 

 

The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the person has accrued as a consequence of their total local government service, 

and not just their current appointment
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Termination Benefits  

 

Table E: Exit Packages 

 

 Compulsory Compulsory Voluntary Voluntary 

 
Number 

 
Value 
Ãô000 

Number 
 

Value 
Ãô000 

Bandings 2016/17     

Up to £19,999 22 107 9 57 

£20,000 up to £39,999 1 32 1 30 

 23 139 10 87 

Total    226 

     

Bandings 2015/16     

Up to £19,999 8  58  3  50  

£20,000 up to £39,999 -  -  2  49  

£40,000 up to £59,999 - - 1 59 

 8 58 6 158 

Total    216 

 

Notes to Table E: 

 

1. The total cost of £226,000 in the table above includes exit packages that have been agreed, accrued for and charged to the 

Councilôs CIES in the current year.  

 

 

 

 

Councillor Jim Gifford,  

Leader of the Council 

Jim Savege, Chief Executive 

On behalf of the Councillors and Officers of Aberdeenshire Council 

21 September 2017 
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The Councilôs Responsibilities 

 

The Council is required to: 

 

¶ Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility 

for the administration of those affairs (section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973). In this Council, that officer is the 

Head of Finance; 

¶ Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets; 

¶ Ensure the Annual Accounts are prepared in accordance with legislation (The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 

2014), and so far as is compatible with that legislation, in accordance with proper accounting practices (section 12 of the Local 

Government in Scotland Act 2003); and 

¶ Approve the Annual Accounts for signature. 

 

I confirm that these Annual Accounts were approved for signature by the Audit Committee at its meeting on 21 September 2017. 

 

Signed on behalf of Aberdeenshire Council 

 

 

 

Councillor Jim Gifford 

Leader of the Council 

 

The Head of Financeôs Responsibilities 

 

The Head of Finance is responsible for the preparation of the Councilôs Annual Accounts in accordance with the proper practices as set 

out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

 

In preparing the Annual Accounts, the Head of Finance has: 

 

¶ selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 

¶ made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent;  

¶ complied with legislation; and 

¶ complied with the Code (in so far as it is compatible with legislation). 

 

The Head of Finance has also: 

 

¶ kept adequate accounting records which were up to date; and 

¶ taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

I certify that the Annual Accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of Aberdeenshire Council and its Group at the reporting 

date and the transactions of the Council and its group for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

 

 
 

Alan Wood, MA (Hons), CPFA  

Head of Finance 
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Scope of Responsibility 

 

Aberdeenshire Council has a responsibility for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, 

and that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, and used appropriately. The Council also has a duty under the Local 

Government in Scotland Act 2003 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, 

having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 

In discharging this responsibility senior officers put in place appropriate arrangements for the governance of the Councilôs resources, 

approved by Councillors. Councillors agree the strategic direction for the Council through the approval of a Council Plan which informs 

the setting of the Councilôs revenue and capital budgets. Service plans and Head of Service Business Plans are shaped by the Council 

Plan themes including Lifelong Learning, Strong & Sustainable Communities, Caring for Communities and Public Service Excellence. The 

Councilôs performance management and reporting framework and corporate and service risk registers are the tools which Councillors use 

to scrutinise delivery of the Council Plan. 

 

Aberdeenshire Council has adopted a Code of Corporate Governance (the Governance Code) which ensures the accountability and 

probity of officers of the Council. The Governance Code is consistent with the principles and reflects the requirements of the CIPFA 

Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in Local Government (2016) as set out in Delivering Good Governance in Local 

Government: Framework (2016), and the Councilôs financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements set out 

therein. 

 

This statement explains how the Council complies with the Governance Code. This statement extends to the entities included in the 

Councilôs Group Accounts, as detailed on page 92. 

 

The Purpose of the Governance Framework 

 

The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values by which the Council is directed and controlled, and 

the activities used to engage with and lead the community. It enables the Council to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives 

and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 

 

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot 

eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 

achievement of the Councilôs policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks being realised, 

and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

 

The governance framework has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the 

annual accounts. 

 

The Governance Framework 

 

The Governance Code covers four key areas:  Community Focus, Service Delivery, Structures and Processes, and Risk Management 

and Internal Control.  The Director of Business Services has the responsibility for overseeing the implementation of the Governance Code 

and reviewing the Governance Code in practice. Following approval of the Council Plan 2017-2022 by Full Council in November 2017, 

the Governance Code will be reviewed and will be reported to Full Council in early 2018 for comment and approval. The review will take 

account of CIPFAôs Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016).   
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The system of corporate governance and internal financial control is based on a framework with appropriate delegation and accountability. 

The system includes:  

  

¶ The Councilôs Scheme of Governance, comprising Standing Orders, Delegations, Financial Regulation and Guidance; 

¶ Management information; 

¶ Performance and risk management;  

¶ Comprehensive financial management systems; 

¶ Periodic and annual financial reports;  

¶ Clearly defined capital expenditure guidelines; and 

¶ Periodic review of all financial procedures.  

 

The corporate governance and internal control procedures are informed by:  

 

¶ Feedback from Councillors and Committees carrying out their scrutiny role;  

¶ Internal Audit & External Audit;  

¶ Work undertaken by external review bodies including Education Scotland, the Care Inspectorate and Audit Scotland; 

¶ Input and comment from managers within the Council;  and  

¶ Customer and stakeholder feedback.  

 

Review of Effectiveness 

 

The review of the effectiveness of the governance framework, including the system of internal control, is carried out throughout the year 

by various means involving: 

 

¶ The Council and its Committees, including the Audit Committee, which meet on a six-weekly cycle;  

¶ Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) which consists of the Chief Executive, the three Service Directors, the Chief Officer of the 

Aberdeenshire Integration Joint Board, the Head of Legal and Governance, the Head of Finance and the Chief Social Work 

Officer. SLT meet weekly to discuss matters of strategic importance; 

¶ The Head of Legal and Governance who is the statutory Monitoring Officer in terms of the Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 and provides legal advice to Councillors and senior officers; 

¶ The Head of Finance who has statutory responsibility for the Councilôs financial affairs in terms of Section 95 of the Local 

Government (Scotland) Act 1973. His responsibilities are set out in the Statement of Responsibilities; 

¶ The Head of Childrenôs Services who is the Chief Social Work Officer and provides professional advice and guidance to 

Councillors and officers in the provision of Social Work Services. He also has a responsibility for overall performance 

improvement and the identification and management of corporate risk in so far as these relate to Social Work Services; 

¶ Internal Audit which is an independent review function of the Council and is responsible for the internal audit of all financial and 

non-financial systems of the Council; 

¶ External organisations that carry out independent audits or inspections of the Council. These include external audit by auditors 

appointed by the Accounts Commission, school inspections by Education Scotland and the regulation and inspection of care 

services by the Care Inspectorate: and 

¶ Regular self-assessment and evaluation using the councilôs corporate framework óHow Good Is Our Council?ô. A thematic self-

assessment and evaluation focused on the Governance Code was undertaken in March 2017 and a range of improvement 

actions identified including increasing awareness of the Governance Code across the council. 

 

The Councilôs Governance Code and the related systems of internal financial control provide reasonable assurance that responsibilities 

will be met. Aberdeenshire Council adheres to the principles of openness, integrity and accountability. All reasonable steps are taken to 

ensure assets are safeguarded, transactions are authorised, procedures are practical and adhered to and that errors are either prevented 

or detected within a timely period, corrective action taken and lessons learned. 

 

 

Annual Governance Statement (Continued) 
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Each year the external auditor produces a report for the Council, which includes a number of recommendations for the Council to address. 

The Council recognises the importance of the recommendations and developed an Action Plan which was reported to Scrutiny and Audit 

Committee on 22 September 2016. The Council has reacted positively and constructively in implementing the Planned Management 

Actions in the Action Plan by assigning each action to an officer with a target completion date agreed. The responsibility for the completion 

of the Action Plan rests with the Head of Finance and is discharged through the Chief Accountant. 

 

There were eleven recommendations in the action plan, all of which were considered to be medium priority. All of these recommendations 

have been completed, as summarised in the table below. 

 

Key Areas 

Fully 

Implemented 

Partially 

Implemented 

Not 

Implemented 

Property, Plant and Equipment 4   

Fixed Asset Register 1   

Council Tax Bad Debt Provision 1   

Charitable Trusts 2   

Highways Network Asset 1   

National Fraud Initiative 1   

Financial Management 1   

Total 
11 

(100%) 

0 

(0%) 

0 

(0%) 

 

The Chief Internal Auditor has the responsibility to review independently, and report to the Audit Committee annually on the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the Councilôs internal control environment. The Chief Internal Auditor reports that, in his opinion, based on his 

evaluation of the control environment, reasonable assurance can be placed upon the adequacy and effectiveness of the Councilôs internal 

control system in the year to 31 March 2017.  

 

Whilst the Chief Internal Auditor has expressed assurance on the overall effectiveness of the internal control system, some significant 

concerns were identified throughout the year. Recommendations graded as ñmajorò (i.e. the absence or failure to comply with an internal 

control) were made in 10 reports in 2016/17 (10 in 2015/16): SEEMIS; Waste Collection and Disposal; Pre-School Commissioned Places; 

Disclosure Checks; Recruitment; Procedures; LEADER Grants; CareFirst; Information Technology in Schools; Creditors Payments; and 

Social Work Client Transport. This is still an area to address and as such an Action Plan referenced below is being developed by SLT. 

SLT notes the improvement but equally notes that action is required to address and prevent repetition in these areas.  Therefore, Service 

Management Teams will also continue to discuss and implement the Action Plan once formed, to the agreed timescale. This will add to 

the update report to Audit Committee and influence future Service Plans. 

 

In 2015/16 Internal Audit undertook a self-assessment and evaluation against the 13 areas of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

(PSIAS). All areas were fully or generally compliant. Where generally compliant an action plan was developed to move areas towards fully 

compliant. No internal self-assessment has been completed for 2016/17 as an external peer review is in the process of being completed 

by Dundee City Councilôs Internal Audit Section. The outcome of this review is scheduled to be reported to the Audit Committee in 

September 2017. 

 

Aberdeenshireôs Integration Joint Board (IJB) for Health and Social Care is now established with full delegation of functions and resources. 

The revenue budget for the IJB has been reported to both Aberdeenshire Council and NHS Grampian for their information. Relevant audit 

reports prepared for the IJB Audit Committee will also be reported to Aberdeenshire Councilôs Audit Committee and the councilôs Audit 

Committee can undertake scrutiny on the delivery of Adult Social Care Services. A separate Annual Governance Statement has been 

prepared for the IJB.   

 

Appropriate arrangements for monitoring expenditure and performance will continue by Aberdeenshire Council under the new Scheme of 

Governance. 

 

 

Annual Governance Statement (Continued) 



 

25 
Aberdeenshire Council 

 

The Council concluded and implemented a wider governance review which includes the decision-making structure, committee structure 

and review of constitutional documents. A report on the review was considered by Aberdeenshire Council on 30 June 2016. The new 

Scheme of Governance was considered by the Council on 29 September 2016, and approved with minor amendments on 24 November 

2016. The new arrangements were implemented on 27 January 2017. The key recommendations approved were that: 

 

¶ the existing 5 committee structure for decision making continue to include four policy committees, a bespoke audit committee 

and six area committees; 

¶ membership of the Councilôs policy committees continue on the current basis of 1 member 1 committee; 

¶ high level functions for committees were approved; 

¶ new vision statements and values for Area and Policy Committees were approved; 

¶ the proposed new Audit Committee be allocated responsibility for receiving and providing feedback on reports from the IJB 

Audit Committee; 

¶ substitute members be permitted for the new Audit Committee; 

¶ the scrutiny role currently exercised by Scrutiny and Audit Committee be shared amongst all policy and area committees and 

based on respective remits; 

¶ Full Council take on the finance primacy role from Policy and Resources Committee; 

¶ decision-making authority for financial matters be delegated to the relevant Policy Committees; 

¶ the new front loading approach for committee involvement in procurement decisions be supported with further information on 

financial ceilings for different areas of procurement to be agreed as part of the procurement guidance being produced; 

¶ procurement training for Members be compulsory; 

¶ new proposals for Appeals and Appointments Committees be reported to members for approval as part of the Governance 

Framework documentation review; and 

¶ a mechanism for councillors bringing forward issues be developed. 

 

The full reports can be viewed at http://committees.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/committees.aspx?commid=1&meetid=18282 (June), 

http://committees.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/Committees.aspx?commid=1&meetid=18290 (September) and  

http://committees.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/committees.aspx?commid=1&meetid=18296 (November). 

 

There will continue to be monitoring of the governance arrangements by Councillors and senior officers including regular updates to Full 

Council to ensure appropriate delegations are in place. In addition the Scheme of Governance will continue to be embedded through the 

Governance Officer Transitional Implementation Taskforce and service champions. 

 

The approach and process for developing the revised Scheme of Governance, including achieving unanimous agreement of the Scheme 

by Full Council, has been recognised externally by: 

 

¶ The Municipal Journal (MJ) Awards ï excellence in governance and scrutiny award - shortlisted 

¶ CIPFA Public Innovation Awards ï good governance award - shortlisted 

¶ Society of Local Authority Lawyers and Administrators in Scotland (SOLAR) Awards ï legal team of the year - shortlisted 

¶ Scottish Legal Awards ï in-house team of the year - shortlisted 

 

In terms of customer and stakeholder feedback, the Council carried out a budget engagement exercise to help inform the setting of the 

budget for 2017/18. A significant amount of responses were recorded from residents and from employees. The responses were a helpful 

source of information on the views and attitudes of residents and employees towards a range of proposals informing the Councilôs future 

budget considerations. Full details of the engagement results are on the Councilôs website. 
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Action Plan 

 

Moving forward, the Council will continue to place fundamental importance on the governance arrangements. This will involve:  

 

¶ A formal review of the Scheme of Governance between June and December 2018 and a review of the Code of Corporate 

Governance in early 2018; 

¶ A greater input from SLT into the formation of the Internal Audit work plan;  

¶ Implementing the recommendations from internal and external audit and other audits and inspections;  

¶ Consideration of  lessons learned from implementing specific projects; and 

¶ Specifically develop a plan to address the recommendations from Internal Audit graded as ómajorô. 

 

Conclusion 

 

This annual governance statement summarises the Councilôs governance arrangements, and affirms our commitment that they are 

reviewed regularly and remain appropriate for the activities and delivery of services by the Council and its Group. Subject to the above 

assurances, the development and implementation of the Action Plan and on the basis of the evidence contained in this statement, we are 

satisfied that the arrangements provide assurance, are adequate and are operating effectively. 

 

 

 

 

 

Jim Savege, Chief Executive 
Councillor Jim Gifford 

Leader of the Council 

 

On behalf of the Officers and Councillors of Aberdeenshire Council 

21 September 2017 

 

 

 

. 
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Independent Auditorôs Report 

 

Independent auditorôs report to the members of Aberdeenshire Council and the Accounts Commission 

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 

and for no other purpose.  In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts Commission, I do 

not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties. 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on financial statements 

I certify that I have audited the financial statements in the annual accounts of Aberdeenshire Council and its group for the year ended 31 

March 2017 under Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.  The financial statements comprise the group and council-only 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements, Movement in Reserves Statements, and Balance Sheets, the council-only Cash-

Flow Statement, Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement on the Housing Revenue Account 

Statement, the Council Tax Income Account, the Business Rates Income Account, Trusts and Endowments, and the Common Good 

Funds and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 

European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 

(the 2016/17 Code). 

In my opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

¶ give a true and fair view in accordance with applicable law and the 2016/17 Code of the state of affairs of the council and its group 

as at 31 March 2017 and of the deficit on the provision of services of the council and its group for the year then ended; 

¶ have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 

2016/17 Code; and 

¶ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, The Local Authority 

Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003.  

 

Basis of opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing in the UK and Ireland (ISAs (UK&I)). My 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditorôs Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

section of my report. I am independent of the council and its group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my 

audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Councilôs Ethical Standards for Auditors, and I have fulfilled 

my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

28 
Aberdeenshire Council 

Independent Auditorôs Report (Continued) 

Responsibilities of the Head of Finance for the financial statements 

 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Head of Finance is responsible for the preparation of financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Head of Finance 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

Auditorôs responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

My responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable legal requirements and ISAs 

(UK&I) as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts Commission. Those standards require me to comply with the 

Financial Reporting Councilôs Ethical Standards for Auditors. An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 

caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the 

council and its group and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by the Head of Finance; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

My objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditorôs report that includes my opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK&I) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Other information in the annual accounts 

The Head of Finance is responsible for the other information in the annual accounts. The other information comprises the information 

other than the financial statements and my auditorôs report thereon.  My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 

information and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters prescribed by the Accounts Commission to 

the extent explicitly stated later in this report. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements in accordance with ISAs (UK&I), my responsibility is to read all the financial and 

non-financial information in the annual accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify 

any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in the 

course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications 

for my report. 
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Independent Auditorôs Report (Continued) 

Report on other requirements 

Opinions on other prescribed matters 

 
I am required by the Accounts Commission to express an opinion on the following matters.   

In my opinion, the auditable part of the Remuneration Report has been properly prepared in accordance with The Local Authority Accounts 

(Scotland) Regulations 2014. 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit 

¶ the information given in the Management Commentary for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with statutory guidance issued under 

the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003; and 

¶ the information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 

is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Delivering Good Governance 

in Local Government: Framework (2016). 

 

Matters on which I am required to report by exception 

 
I am required by the Accounts Commission to report to you if, in my opinion: 

¶ adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

¶ the financial statements and the auditable part of the Remuneration Report are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 

¶ I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit; or 

¶ there has been a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective. 

I have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

 

 

 

 

Gillian Woolman MA FCA CPFA  

Assistant Director  

Audit Scotland 

4th Floor, 102 West Port 

Edinburgh 

EH3 9DN  

 

27 September 2017 
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Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

 

This statement shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants, rents, council tax and business rates) by local authorities in comparison with those resources consumed 

or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Councilôs Committees. Income 

and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the CIES. 

 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to the 
General Fund and 

HRA Balances 
2015/16  
Ãô000 

Adjustments 
Between the 
Funding and 

Accounting Basis 
2015/16  
Ãô000 

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2015/16  
Ãô000 Aberdeenshire Services 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to the 
General Fund and 

HRA Balances 
2016/17  
Ãô000 

Adjustments 
Between the 
Funding and 

Accounting Basis 
2016/17  
Ãô000 

Net Expenditure 
in the CIES 

2016/17  
Ãô000 

Notes 
Ref 

38,311 11,466 49,777 Business Services Committee 39,525 6,342 45,867  

118,493 17,036 135,529 Communities Committee 114,837 6,612 121,449  

284,056 41,859 325,915 Education and Childrenôs Services Committee 293,496 40,343 333,839  

76,901 14,117 91,018 Infrastructure Services Committee 67,266 23,534 90,800  

- 14,666 14,666 Housing Revenue Account - 160,433 160,433  

517,761 99,144 616,905 NET COST OF SERVICES 515,124 237,264 752,388  

        

(509,835) (37,936) (547,771) Other (Income) and Expenditure (503,385) (37,827) (541,212)  

7,926 61,208 69,134 Surplus or Deficit 11,739 199,437 211,176 5,6 

        

(53,598)   Opening General Fund and HRA Balance at 1 April (46,933)    

7,926   
(Plus)/Less (Surplus) or Deficit on the General Fund 
and HRA Balance in the Year  

11,739    

(1,261)   Transfer from Statutory Reserves (3,719)    

(46,933)   
Closing General Fund and HRA Balance at 31 
March* 

(38,913)    

 

*For a split of this balance between the General Fund and the HRA, see the MIRS. 
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 

 

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation or rents. Authorities 

raise taxation and rents to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in both the EFA and the MIRS. 

Council Restated Group  Council Group  

 Gross 
Expenditure   

  2015/16 
Ãô000 

Income 
2015/16 
Ãô000 

Net 
Expenditure 

2015/16 
Ãô000 

Net 
Expenditure 

2015/16 
Ãô000 Aberdeenshire Services 

Gross 
Expenditure 

2016/17 
Ãô000 

Income 
2016/17 
Ãô000 

Net 
Expenditure 

2016/17 
Ãô000 

Net 
Expenditure 

2016/17 
Ãô000 

Notes 
Ref 

*127,114 *(77,337) 49,777 49,777 Business Services Committee 124,542 (78,675) 45,867 45,867  

*184,145 *(48,616) 135,529 135,529 Communities Committee 283,008 (161,559) 121,449 121,449  

*341,541 *(15,626) 325,915 325,915 Education and Childrenôs Services Committee 348,132 (14,293) 333,839 333,839  

*175,062 *(84,044) 91,018 91,018 Infrastructure Services Committee 169,564 (78,764) 90,800 90,800  

69,209 (54,543) 14,666 14,666 Housing Revenue Account 217,601 (57,168) 160,433 160,433  

*(79,905) *79,905 - - Adjustment to Remove Central Charges (75,637) 75,637 - -  

- - - (4) Charitable Trusts and Endowments - - - 22  

817,166 (200,261) 616,905 616,901 COST OF SERVICES 1,067,210 (314,822) 752,388 752,410 
EFA, 

5 

- (2,068) (2,068) (2,068) (Gains) on the disposal of Non Current Assets and AHfS - (1,774) (1,774) (1,774)  

- (2,068) (2,068) (2,068) Other Operating Expenditure - (1,774) (1,774) (1,774)  

28,056 - 28,056 28,056 Interest Payable and Similar Charges  29,284 - 29,284 29,284 
22 

 

9,241 - 9,241 9,241 Net Interest on Net Defined Pension Liability  8,906 - 8,906 8,906 34 

- - - - Changes in the Fair Value of Investment Properties 56 (2) 54 54 16 

- (856) (856) (856) Interest Receivable and Similar Income - (625) (625) (625) 22 

- - - 421 Investment Losses/(Gains) on Charitable Trusts and Endowments - - - (590)  

- - - - Share of Integration Joint Board Surplus - - - (5)  

37,297 (856) 36,441 36,862 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 38,246 (627) 37,619 37,024  

- (582,144) (582,144) (582,144) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income - (577,057) (577,057) (577,057) 9 

  69,134 69,551 Deficit on Provision of Services   211,176 210,603 6 

  10,082 10,082 Deficit/(Surplus) on revaluation of Non Current assets and AHfS   (61,688) (61,688)  

  (51,719) (51,719) Actuarial (gains)/losses on pension assets/liabilities   144,651 144,651 34 

  (41,637) (41,637) Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   82,963 82,963  

  27,497 27,914 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure   294,139 293,566  

 *Figures have been restated. See note 10 for details.    Other Notes 
11 - 

12 
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This statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into óusable reservesô (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or 

reduce local taxation) and other óunusable reservesô. The statement shows how the movements in year of the Councilôs reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax (or rents) for the year. The Net Decrease/(Increase) line shows the statutory 

General Fund Balance and Housing Revenue Account Balance movements in the year, following those adjustments. 

 

 

General 
Fund 

Balance 
Ãô000 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 
Ãô000 

Repairs 
and 

Renewals 
Fund 

 Ãô000 

Insurance 
Fund 

 Ãô000 

Capital 
Reserves
* Ãô000 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 
Ãô000 

Total 
Unusable 
 Reserves 

Ãô000 

Total 
Council 

Reserves 
Ãô000 

Group 
Usable 

Reserves 
Ãô000 

Group 
Unusable 
Reserves 
Ãô000 

Total 
Group 

Reserves 
Ãô000 

Notes 
Ref 

Balance at 31 March 2016 (44,933) (2,000) (4,423) (1,690) (7,015) (60,061) (1,142,352) (1,202,413) (63,092) (1,142,352) (1,205,444)  

             

Movement in Reserves During 2016/17             

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 49,264 161,912 - - - 211,176 82,963 294,139 210,603 82,963 293,566  

Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and 
Funding Basis Under Regulations 

(37,482) (161,955) - - (505) (199,942) 199,942 - (199,942) 199,942 - 7 

Decrease/(Increase) before Transfers to 
Statutory Reserves 

11,782 (43) - - (505) 11,234 282,905 294,139 10,661 282,905 293,566  

             

Transfers to/(from) Statutory Reserves (3,762) 43 873 (332) 3,178 - - - - - -  

Balance at 31 March 2017 Carried Forward (36,913) (2,000) (3,550) (2,022) (4,342) (48,827) (859,447) (908,274) (52,431) (859,447) (911,878)  

Notes Ref 8      30      

 
*An analysis of the capital reserves can be found in the Annex. 
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Comparative Movements in 2015/16 

General 
Fund 

Balance 
Ãô000 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 
Ãô000 

Repairs 
and 

Renewals 
Fund 

 Ãô000 

Insurance 
Fund 

 Ãô000 

Capital 
Reserves 
* Ãô000 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 
Ãô000 

Total 
Unusable 
 Reserves 

Ãô000 

Total 
Council 

Reserves 
Ãô000 

Group 
Usable 

Reserves 
Ãô000 

Group 
Unusable 
Reserves 
Ãô000 

Total Group 
Reserves 
Ãô000 

Notes 
Ref 

Balance at 31 March 2015 (51,598) (2,000) (5,020) (1,228) (6,918) (66,764) (1,163,146) (1,229,910) (70,212) (1,163,146) (1,233,358)  

              

Movement in Reserves During 2015/16             

Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

51,911 17,223 - - - 69,134 (41,637) 27,497 69,551 (41,637) 27,914  

Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and 
Funding Basis Under Regulations 

(44,666) (16,542) - - (1,223) (62,431) 62,431 - (62,431) 62,431 - 7 

Decrease/(Increase) before Transfers to 
Statutory Reserves 

7,245 681 - - (1,223) 6,703 20,794 27,497 7,120 20,794 27,914  

             

Transfers to/(from) Statutory Reserves (580) (681) 597 (462) 1,126 - - - - - -  

Balance at 31 March 2016 Carried 
Forward 

(44,933) (2,000) (4,423) (1,690) (7,015) (60,061) (1,142,352) (1,202,413) (63,092) (1,142,352) (1,205,444)  

Notes Ref 8      30      

 
*An analysis of the capital reserves can be found in the Annex. 
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Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017 

 

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Council and its Group. 

The net assets of the Council/Group (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Council/Group. Reserves are reported 

in two categories: (i) Usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Council/Group may use to provide services, subject to the need to 

maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use; and (ii) Unusable reserves, which the Council/Group may 

not use to provide services. These include reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where 

amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the 

MIRS line ñAdjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulationsò.  

 

 

 

Alan Wood, MA (Hons), CPFA 

Head of Finance 

The unaudited accounts were issued on 16 June 2017 and the audited accounts were authorised for issue on 21 September 2017. 

Council 
2015/16 
Ãô000 

Group 
2015/16 
Ãô000  

Council 
2016/17 
Ãô000 

Group 
2016/17 
Ãô000 

Note 
 Ref 

2,104,410 2104,410 Property, Plant and Equipment 2,022,896 2,022,896 14 

1,604 1,604 Heritage Assets 1,964 1,964 15 

1,741 1,741 Investment Properties 1,687 1,687 16 

1,970 1,970 Intangible Assets 1,402 1,402 17 

77 77 Long Term Investments 77 77 22 

5,911 5,911 Long Term Debtors 7,327 7,327 25 

2,115,713 2,115,713 Long Term Assets 2,035,353 2,035,353  

- 3,054 Short Term Investments 25,000 28,630 22 

40 40 Assets Held for Sale 933 933 18 

3,871 3,871 Inventories 4,003 4,003 24 

29,969 29,969 Short Term Debtors 40,126 40,131 25 

21,925 21,925 Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,408 6,408 26 

55,805 55,859 Current Assets      76,470 80,105  

(48,782) (48,782) Short Term Borrowing (24,505) (24,505) 22 

(86,791) (86,814) Short Term Creditors (90,571) (90,602) 27 

(121) (121) Provisions (502) (502) 28 

(889) (889) Revenue Grants Receipts in Advance (392) (392) 29 

(136,583) (136,606) Current Liabilities (115,970) (116,001)  

(11,549) (11,549) Provisions (10,049) (10,049) 28 

(485,130) (485,130) Long Term Borrowing (584,762) (584,762) 22 

(253,899) (253,899) Pension Liabilities (413,173) (413,173) 34 

(115) (115) Finance Leases (110) (110) 19, 22 

(66,329) (66,329) PFI and PPP Liabilities (63,772) (63,772) 20 

(15,500) (15,500) Capital Grants Receipts in Advance (15,713) (15,713) 29 

(832,522) (832,522) Long Term Liabilities (1,087,579) (1,087,579)  

          

1,202,413 1,205,444 Net Assets 908,274 911,878  

      

(60,061) (60,061) Usable Reserves (48,827) (48,827) MIRS 

- (3,031) 
Share of Usable Reserves of Subsidiary and Joint 
Venture 

- (3,604)  

(1,142,352) (1,142,352) Unusable Reserves (859,447) (859,447) 30 

(1,202,413) (1,205,444) Total Reserves (908,274) (911,878)  

 
 

Other Notes  
 13,21,23 

31ï33, 35 
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Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 

 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash and cash equivalents 

by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are 

funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Council. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are 

intended to contribute to the Councilôs future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council. 

 

2015/16 
Ãô000 

 
2016/17 
Ãô000 

Notes  
Ref  

(69,134) Net deficit on the provision of services (211,176)  

157,744 Adjust net deficit on the provision of services for non cash movements 276,770  

(38,467) Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that are investing and financing activities (49,669)  

50,143 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  15,925 36 

 Investing Activities:    

(122,300) Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and Intangible Assets (125,685)  

- Purchase of Short and Long Term Investments (25,000)  

(2,678) Other Payments for Investing Activities (1,855)  

4,232 Proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and Intangible Assets  5,812  

44,754 Other Receipts from Investment Activities 42,145  

(75,992) Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities  (104,583)  

 Financing Activities:   

40,394 Cash Receipts of Short Term and Long Term Borrowing 130,104  

(2,242) Cash Payments for the Reduction of the Outstanding Liabilities Relating to the Finance Leases and On Balance Sheet PFI Contracts (2,250)  

(33,375) Repayments of Short Term and Long Term Borrowing (54,713)  

4,777 Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities  73,141  

    

(21,072) Net (Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents (15,517)  

    

42,997 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 21,925  

21,925 Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  6,408 26 

  

 

A Group Cash Flow Statement has not been prepared on the basis that it would, effectively, be the same as the single entity Cash Flow Statement.  
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1.1 General Principles 

 

The Annual Accounts summarise transactions of the Council and its Group for the 2016/17 financial year and its position at the year end 

of 31 March 2017. The Council is required to prepare Annual Accounts by the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, 

which section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 requires these to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting 

practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 (the 

Code) and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2016/17 (SeRCOP), supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

and statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the 2003 Act. The accounting convention adopted in the Annual Accounts is principally 

historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets. 

 

The Council has no transactions that will be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in terms of 

International Accounting Standard 1 (IAS 1) and has, therefore, not grouped the items in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

into amounts that are reclassifiable and amounts that are not, i.e. all the amounts in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure are 

not reclassifiable in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.  

 

1.2 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 

 

Activity is accounted for in the year in which it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular: 

 

¶ income from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser 

and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council; 

¶ income from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure reliably the percentage of completion of the 

transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council; 

¶ supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed ï where there is a gap between the date supplies are received and 

their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet; 

¶ expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services 

are received rather than when payments are made; 

¶ interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for respectively as expenditure and income on the basis 

of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract; and 

¶ where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant 

amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where there is evidence that debts are unlikely to be settled, the balance of debtors is 

written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected. 

 

1.3 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. 

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

 

In the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Councilôs cash management 

Note 1 ï Significant Accounting Policies 
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1.4 Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 

 

Services and support services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year: 

 

¶ depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 

¶ revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation 

Reserve against which the losses can be written off;  and 

¶ amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service. 

 

The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses, or amortisation. However, it is 

required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to loans fund 

principal repayments. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses, and amortisation are therefore substituted by a funding 

contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the MIRS for the 

difference between the two. 

 

1.5 Employee Benefits 

 

(i) Benefits Payable During Employment 

 

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within twelve months of the year end.  They include such benefits as wages and 

salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees, and are recognised as an 

expense in the year in which employees render service to the Council. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements and flexi 

time earned by employees but not taken before the year end and which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The 

accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes 

the benefit. The accrual is charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the MIRS so that 

holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs. 

 

(ii) Termination Benefits 

 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate an officerôs employment before the normal 

retirement date or an officerôs decision to accept voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to the relevant service line 

in the CIES when the Council is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of an officer or group of officers or making 

an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

 

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged 

with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant 

accounting standards. In the MIRS, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and 

credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners 

and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end. 

 

(iii) Post Employment Benefits 

 

Employees of the Council are members of one of two separate pension schemes: 

 

¶ The Scottish Teachersô Pension Scheme, administered by the Scottish Government; and 

¶ The Local Government Pension Scheme, the North East Scotland Pension Fund, administered by Aberdeen City Council. 

 

Both schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees work for the Council.  
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However, the arrangements for the teachersô scheme mean that liabilities for these benefits cannot be identified specifically to the Council. 

The scheme is therefore accounted for as if it were a defined contributions scheme and no liability for future payments of benefits is 

recognised in the Balance Sheet. The Education and Childrenôs Services Committee line in the CIES is charged with the employerôs 

contributions payable to Teachersô Pensions in the year. 

 

(iv) The Local Government Pension Scheme 

 

The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefit scheme: 

 

¶ the liabilities of the North East Scotland Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial 

basis using the projected unit credit method i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement 

benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc., and projections 

of projected earnings for current employees; 

¶ liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate of 2.5% (based on a weighted average of ñspot 

yieldsò on AA rated corporate bonds); 

¶ the assets of the North East Scotland Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair 

value: 

- quoted securities ï current bid price; 

- unquoted securities ï professional estimate; 

- unitised securities ï current bid price; and 

- property ï market value.  

 

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 

 

¶ service cost comprising: 

- current service cost ï the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year ï allocated in the CIES to the 

services for which the employees worked; 

- past service cost ï the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years 

of service earned in earlier years ï debited to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services in the CIES as part of the 

Business Services Committee expenditure; 

- net interest on the net defined benefit liability, i.e. net interest expense for the Council ï the change during the period in the 

net defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line of the CIES ï this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation 

at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability at the beginning of the period ï taking into account any changes 

in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments; 

¶ remeasurements comprising: 

- the return on plan assets ï excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability ï charged to the 

Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure; 

- actuarial gains and losses ï changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with 

assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions ï debited or 

credited to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure; and 

¶ contributions paid to the North East Scotland Pension Fund ï cash paid as employerôs contributions to the pension fund in 

settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense. 

 

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the 

Council to the Pension Fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting 

standards. In the MIRS, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and 

credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts 

payable but unpaid at the year end.  
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The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required 

to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 

 

(v) Discretionary Benefits 

 

The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities 

estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the decision to make the 

award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

 

1.6 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 

 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting 

period and the date when the Annual Accounts are authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

 

¶ those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period ï the Annual Accounts are adjusted to 

reflect such events; and 

¶ those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period ï the Annual Accounts are not adjusted to reflect such 

events, but where a category of events would have a material effect disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events 

and their estimated financial effect. 

 

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Annual Accounts. 

 

1.7 Fair Value Measurement 

 

The Council measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and investment properties and some of its financial 

instruments such as equity shareholdings at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement 

assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:  

 

a) in the principal market for the asset or liability, or  

b) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

 

The Council measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 

asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

  

When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Council takes into account a market participantôs ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest 

and best use. 

 

The Council uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available, maximising the 

use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

 

Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Councilôs Annual 

Accounts are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as follows: 

  

Level 1 ï quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the authority can access at the measurement 

date.  

Level 2 ï inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 ï unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.  
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1.8 Financial Instruments 

 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another 

entity. 

 

(i) Financial Liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 

instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are carried at amortised cost subsequently. Annual charges to the Financing and 

Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by 

the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 

over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was recognised originally. 

 

For most of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal 

repayable (plus accrued interest reflected in Creditors) and interest charged to the CIES is the amount payable for the year according to 

the loan agreement. 

 

Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to the Financing and Investment Income 

and Expenditure line in the CIES in the year of repurchase/settlement. However, where repurchase has taken place as part of a 

restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively 

deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down to the CIES is spread over the life of the 

loan by an adjustment to the effective interest rate. 

 

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the CIES, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread 

over future years. The Council has a policy of spreading the gain/loss over the term that was remaining on the loan against which the 

premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid. The reconciliation of amounts charged to the CIES to the net charge 

required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the 

MIRS. 

 

(ii) Financial Assets 

 

The Council holds loans and receivables which are defined as assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not quoted in an 

active market. 

 

Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 

instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are measured subsequently at amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing 

and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied 

by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the loans that the Council has made, this means that the amount presented 

in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest reflected in Debtors) and interest credited to the CIES 

is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 

 

However, the Council has made a number of loans to small businesses and other organisations at less than market rates (soft loans). 

When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the interest that will 

be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than the outstanding principal. Interest is credited to the 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable 

from the small businesses and other organisations, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance 

Sheet. Statutory provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest receivable for the financial 

year ï the reconciliation of amounts debited and credited to the CIES to the net gain required against the General Fund Balance is 

managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the MIRS. 

  

Note 1 ï Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
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Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that payments due under the contract will not 

be made, the asset is written down and a charge made to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. The 

impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows 

discounted at the assetôs original effective interest rate. 

 

The council derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual right to the cash flows from the asset expire. Any gains and losses 

that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited/debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 

 

1.9 Foreign Currency Translation 

 

Where the Council has entered into a transaction denominated in a foreign currency, the transaction is converted into Sterling at the 

exchange rate applicable on the date on which the transaction was effective. Where amounts in foreign currency are outstanding at the 

year end, they are reconverted at the spot exchange rate at 31 March. Resulting gains or losses are recognised in the Financing and 

Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 

 

1.10 Government Grants and Contributions 

 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and donations are recognised as 

due to the Council when there is reasonable assurance that: 

 

¶ the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments; and 

¶ the grants or contributions will be received. 

 

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the CIES until conditions attaching to the grant or contribution have been 

satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired 

using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service potential 

must be returned to the transferor. 

 

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. 

When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants/contributions) 

or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ring-fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the CIES. 

 

Where capital grants are credited to the CIES, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the MIRS. Where the grant has yet 

to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account. Where it has been applied, it is posted to 

the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Account are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account 

once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 

 

1.11 Group Accounts  

 

Group Accounts are required to be prepared under the Code where the Council has interests in subsidiaries, associates and/or joint 

ventures, unless their interest is considered immaterial. The Council has considered its interest in the Aberdeenshire Integration Joint 

Board, the Trusts and Endowments for which the Council is the sole Trustee, Common Good Funds, the Grampian Valuation Joint Board, 

Create Homes and Nestrans. The Council has concluded that its interests the Aberdeenshire Integration Joint Board and the Trusts and 

Endowments for which the Council is the sole Trustee are considered to be material, hence Group Accounts have been prepared which 

include these entities. A Group Cash Flow Statement has not been prepared on the basis that it would, effectively, be the same as the 

single entity Cash Flow Statement.   

  

Note 1 ï Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
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1.12 Heritage Assets 

 

Aberdeenshire Councilôs Museum Service collections relate to the natural and man-made history of Aberdeenshire. These are held in 

support of the Museum Serviceôs primary objective which is ñTo collect, research, conserve, interpret and make accessible to all people 

living in Aberdeenshire the museum collection belonging to Aberdeenshire Councilò. The vast majority of the objects held were acquired 

in the 19th century and the first half of the 20th century. 

 

Aberdeenshire Councilôs Archaeology Service collections and heritage assets either relate directly to the everyday activities of protecting 

and managing all known elements of the historic environment within Aberdeenshire Council (it also provides a similar service to Moray 

and Angus Councils) or are physical items that have been allocated to it under the Councilôs Asset Management Plan. Most items are 

donated. 

 

In the opinion of the Council, reliable information on cost or valuation is not available for the majority of these collections. This is owing to 

the lack of information on purchase cost, the lack of comparable market values, the diverse nature of the objects and the volume of items 

held. The Council has applied a de minimis of £100,000 for reporting Heritage Assets on the Balance Sheet.  

 

The Deskford Carnyx, which is regarded as of national importance and is on loan to National Museums Scotland was valued by them in 

2011 at current sale room price. 

 

Heritage assets are deemed to have indeterminate lives and a high residual value; hence the Council does not consider it appropriate to 

charge depreciation. The carrying amounts of heritage assets are reviewed where there is evidence of impairment for heritage assets, 

e.g. where an item has suffered physical deterioration or breakage or where doubts arise as to its authenticity. Any impairment is 

recognised and measured in accordance with the Councilôs general policies on impairment ï see note 1.20 (iii).  

 

1.13 Intangible Assets 

 

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the Council as a result of past events (e.g. 

software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to 

the Council. 

 

Expenditure on the development of websites is not capitalised if the website is solely or primarily intended to promote or advertise the 

Councilôs goods or services. 

 

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are not revalued, as the fair value of the assets held by the Council cannot be 

determined by reference to an active market. The amortisable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant 

service line(s) in the CIES. No amortisation charge is made for an intangible asset in the year of acquisition. Thereafter, the straight-line 

method is applied, based on the opening balance. A full yearôs amortisation charge is made in the year of disposal. 

 

An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired ï any losses recognised are posted to 

the relevant service line(s) in the CIES. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the 

Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES. 

 

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, amortisation, impairment losses and 

disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed 

out of the General Fund Balance in the MIRS and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for sale proceeds) the Capital Receipts 

Reserve. 
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1.14 Inventories and Work in Progress 

 

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is assigned using the 

weighted average costing formula. 

 

Work in progress is subject to an interim valuation at the year end and recorded in the Balance Sheet at cost plus any profit reasonably 

attributable to the works. 

 

1.15 Investment Properties 

 

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. The definition is not met if the property 

is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale. 

 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell such an 

asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As a non-financial asset, investment properties are 

valued at highest and best use. Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end.  

Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. The same treatment 

is applied to gains and losses on disposal. 

 

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment Income line and result in a gain for the 

General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an 

impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the MIRS and 

posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for sale proceeds) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

 

1.16 Joint Operations 

 

Joint operations are arrangements where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations 

for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The activities undertaken by the Council in conjunction with other joint operators involve the 

use of the assets and resources of those joint operators. In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Council as a joint operator 

recognises:  

 

¶ its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

¶ its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;  

¶ its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;  

¶ its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and  

¶ its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

 

1.17 Leases 

 

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 

of the property from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 

Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for classification. 

 

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment are accounted for under 

this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets. 
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(i) The Council as Lessee 
 
Operating Leases 
 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the CIES as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, 

plant or equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments 

(e.g. where there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease). 

 
(ii) The Council as Lessor 

 

Finance Leases 

 

Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the 

commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line 

in the CIES as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the Councilôs net investment in the lease, is credited to the same 

line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), 

matched by a debtor in the Balance Sheet.  

 

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

 

¶ a capital receipt for the disposal of the asset ï applied to write down the debtor;  and 

¶ finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES). 

 

The gain credited to the CIES on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and is required to be treated 

as a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve 

in the MIRS. Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this 

is posted out of the General Fund Balance to an earmarked part of the Capital Receipt Reserve. When the future rentals are received, 

the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the Debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts 

are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate 

arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the 

MIRS. 

 

Operating Leases 

 

Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. 

Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES. Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of 

the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial 

direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an 

expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

 
1.18 Overheads and Support Services 

 

The costs of overheads and support services are shown in full against the line for Business Services Committee in the CIES, which reflects 

the management and reporting arrangement for those costs. 

 
1.19 Prior Year Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

 

Prior year adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error. Changes in accounting 

estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change.  
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Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change provides more reliable or 

relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Councilôs financial position or financial 

performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and 

comparative amounts for the prior year as if the new policy had always been applied. 

 

Material errors discovered in prior year figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and comparative amounts for 

the prior year. 

 

1.20 Property, Plant and Equipment  

 

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others for 

administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and 

Equipment. 

 
(i) Recognition 

 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided 

that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the 

item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an assetôs potential to deliver future economic benefits or 

service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 

 

The de minimis applied when accounting for expenditure of a capital nature that is funded from revenue is £6,000 for Plant, Furniture and 

Equipment, £10,000 for Vehicles and £20,000 for all other categories of Property, Plant and Equipment which reflects the concept of 

materiality when preparing the financial statements.   

 

(ii) Measurement 

 

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 

 

¶ the purchase price; 

¶ any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 

intended by management; and 

¶ the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. 

 

The Council does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction. 

 

The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the acquisition will not increase the cash flows 

of the Council. In the latter case, where the asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the 

asset given up by the Council. 

 

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 

 

¶ infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction ï depreciated historical cost; 

¶ dwellings ï Current value, determined using the basis of Existing Use Value for social housing (EUV-SH). The Adjustment Factor 

applied is a measure of the difference between private Market Rent and socially rented property within the Aberdeenshire Council 

area. It is the discount which, when applied to the cumulative total of all beacon values, gives rise to the Existing Use Value-Social 

Housing (EUV-SH) for the housing stock. The Adjustment Factor, therefore, is the relationship between the capitalised net rent 

(investment value) of private dwellings and the equivalent public sector investment. 

¶ non-specialised property ï current value, determined as an amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing 

use value ï EUV); 
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¶ specialised property ï current value, but because of their specialist nature, are measured at depreciated replacement cost which 

is used as an estimate of current value; 

¶ surplus assets ï the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated at highest and best use from a market participantôs 

perspective; and 

¶  all other assets ï current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value 

ï EUV). 

 

Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost is used 

as an estimate of current value. 

 
Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for fair 

value. 

 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not 

materially different from their current value at the year end, but as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are matched by 

credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  In exceptional cases, gains will be credited to the CIES where they 

arise from the reversal of a revaluation loss charged previously to a service.  

 

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted as follows: 

 

¶ where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written 

down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains); and 

¶ where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down 

against the relevant service line(s) in the CIES. 

 

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal implementation. Gains 

arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 

(iii) Impairment 

 

Assets are assessed at each year end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where indications exist and 

any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the 

carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 

 

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted as follows: 

 

¶ where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written 

down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains); and 

¶ where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 

service line(s) in the CIES. 

 

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the CIES, up to the amount 

of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

 

(iv) Disposals 

 

When it becomes probable that an asset will be sold rather than continuing to be used for service delivery it is reclassified as an Asset 

Held for Sale. For this to be the case, the asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are 

usual and customary for sales of such assets and its sale must be highly probable.  For the sale to be highly probable, the Council must 

be committed to a plan to sell the asset, and an active programme to locate a buyer must have been initiated.  The asset must be actively 

marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value.  
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In addition, the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.  The 

asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell.  

 

Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 

CIES. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of 

Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 

 

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to non-current assets and valued 

at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations 

that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision 

not to sell. 

 

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale. 

 

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and 

Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES as part of the gain or loss on 

disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. 

netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the 

Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 

Amounts received for a disposal are categorised as capital receipts.  Receipts are required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, 

and can then only be used for new capital investment. Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the 

MIRS. 

 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate 

arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the 

MIRS. 

 
(v) Depreciation 

 

Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over 

their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain Community Assets) 

and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction). 

 

Deprecation is calculated on the following bases: 

 

¶ Council Dwellings and Other Buildings - straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property (between 10 and 60 years) as 

estimated by the valuer; 

¶ Vehicles, Plant and Equipment ï straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset (between 4 and 30 years) as advised by 

a suitably qualified officer; 

¶ Infrastructure ï straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset (between 10 and 60 years) as advised by a suitably qualified 

officer; and 

¶ Community Assets ï straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset (between 5 and 60 years) as advised by a suitably 

qualified officer. 

 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation charged on assets 

and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation 

Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
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(vi) Componentisation 

 

Components of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment are recognised separately for depreciation purposes where it is considered that 

the cost of the component is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset. Assets with a carrying value of £5,000,000 and below will 

be disregarded for componentisation as the impact upon the reported cost of service is not considered material.  

 

Assets that are above the £5,000,000 de minimis threshold will be componentised where the cost of the component is significant in relation 

to the overall total cost of the asset and the difference in useful life is significant in relation to the main asset.  

 

The components that will be considered in terms of this policy are: 

 

¶ External Works; 

¶ Walls and Structure; 

¶ Roof; and 

¶ Mechanical and Electrical. 

 

This policy applies to enhancement and acquisition expenditure incurred, and revaluations carried out, from 1 April 2010. It excludes land 

assets which are already identified separately. 

 

1.21 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Similar Contracts 

 

PFI contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the property, plant and equipment needed 

to provide the services passes to the PFI contractor. As the Council is deemed to control the services that are provided under its PFI 

schemes and as ownership of the property, plant and equipment will pass to the Council at the end of the contracts for no additional 

charge, the Council carries the assets used under the contracts on its Balance Sheet as part of Property, Plant and Equipment. 

 

The original recognition of these assets at fair value (based on the cost to purchase the property, plant and equipment) was balanced by 

the recognition of a liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for the capital investment.  

 

Non-current assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the same way as property, plant and equipment 

owned by the Council under a finance lease. The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year are analysed into five elements: 

 

¶ fair value of the services received during the year ï debited to the relevant service in the CIES; 

¶ finance cost ï an interest charge on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability, debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the CIES. The interest charge on the contract with Robertson Education (Aberdeenshire) Limited is 8.687%, 

the interest charge on the contract with Robertson Education (Aberdeenshire 2) Limited is 8.299%;  

¶ contingent rent ï increases in the amount to be paid for the property arising during the contract, debited to the Financing and 

Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES; 

¶ payment towards liability ï applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability towards the PFI operator (the profile of write-downs 

is calculated using the same principles as for a finance lease); and 

¶ lifecycle replacement costs ï  a proportion of the amounts payable is posted to the Balance Sheet as a prepayment and then 

recognised as additions to Property, Plant and Equipment when the relevant works are eventually carried out. 

 

In future periods the Council will be commencing a contract arrangement for the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route.  The accounting 

treatment adopted will be similar to that detailed above. 
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1.22 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities  

 

(i) Provisions 

 

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council a legal or constructive obligation where it is probable that 

settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential will be required, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 

the obligation. For instance, the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement or the 

payment of compensation.  

 

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the CIES in the year that the Council becomes aware of the 

obligation, and measured at the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into 

account relevant risks and uncertainties. When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance 

Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year ï where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of  

economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to 

the relevant service. 

 

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another party (e.g. from an insurance 

claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the Council 

settles the obligation. 

 

The Council has created provisions for compensation for equal pay claims for staff who have not yet signed compromise agreements 

and who have progressed a tribunal claim. 

 

(ii) Contingent Liabilities 

 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible obligation whose existence will only be 

confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also 

arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required 

or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 

 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 

 

1.23 Reserves 

 

The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves as allowed by statute. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the 

General Fund Balance. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year 

to score against the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services in the CIES. The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund 

Balance in the MIRS so that there is no net charge against Council Tax for the expenditure. 

 

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments, retirement and employee 

benefits and that do not represent usable resources for the Council - these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 

 

1.24 VAT 

 

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majestyôs Revenue and Customs. VAT 

receivable is excluded from income. 
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The following Accounting Standard will be adopted by the Code in 2017/18: 

 

¶ IAS 26 Retirement Benefit Plans 

 

It is not expected that this change will have a material impact on the information provided in the financial statements. 

 

The following new Standards, Amendments and Interpretations became effective in 2016/17 for the first time: 

 

¶ Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions);  

¶ Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010ï2012 Cycle;  

¶ Amendment to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations);  

¶ Amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets (Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 

Depreciation and Amortisation);  

¶ Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012ï2014 Cycle;  

¶ Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Disclosure Initiative);  

¶ The changes to the format of the CIES, the MIRS and the introduction of the new Expenditure and Funding Analysis; and  

¶ The changes to the format of the Fund Account and the Net Assets Statement. 

 

Although there is no material impact on the information provided in the financial statements as a result of the above, the changes to the 

format of the CIES, the MIRS and the introduction of the new Expenditure and Funding Analysis are designed to improve the 

understandability of the accounts.  

 

Note 3 ï Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

 

In applying the accounting policies set out in note 1, the Council has had to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those 

involving uncertainty about future events. The critical judgement made in the Annual Accounts is: 

 

¶ There is a high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local government. However, the Council has 

determined that this uncertainty is not sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the Council might be impaired as a 

result or a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision. The level of future uncertainty and associated risk is 

considered as part of the Councilôs Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

¶ The Council is deemed to control the services provided under three PFI contracts covering ten schools and associated 

community facilities and also to control the residual value of the schools at the end of the agreement. The accounting policies 

for PFI schemes and similar contracts have been applied to the arrangement and the schools (valued at £199,782,000) are 

recognised as property, plant and equipment on the Councilôs Balance Sheet.  
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Note 4 ï Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 

The Annual Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the Council about the future or that are otherwise 

uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because 

balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates. 

 

The items in the Councilôs Balance Sheet at 31 March 2017 for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming 

financial year are as follows: 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment - assets are depreciated over useful lives that are dependent on assumptions about the level of repairs 

and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to individual assets. The current economic climate makes it uncertain that the Council 

will be able to sustain its current spending on repairs and maintenance, bringing into doubt the useful lives assigned to assets. If the useful 

life of assets is reduced, depreciation increases or the asset may be impaired, and the carrying amount of the assets falls. It is estimated 

that the annual depreciation charge for buildings would increase by £6,536,000 for every year that useful lives had to be reduced. The 

value of assets is measured by an internal valuer in accordance with the policies set out in note 1.20 (ii) and the impact recorded in the 

accounts. The vast majority of Property, Plant and Equipment assets are valued at fair value. The valuations are significant estimates 

which are based on specialist and management assumptions and which can be subject to material changes in value. The significant 

assumptions used in the valuations are detailed in note 14.  

 

Council Dwellings ï Council dwellings are valued on the basis of Current Value, which is determined using the basis of Existing Use 

Value of social housing (EUV-SH). This value is then reduced by the Adjustment Factor which is a measure of the difference between 

private Market Rent and socially rented property within the Aberdeenshire Council area. It is the discount which, when applied to the 

cumulative total of all beacon values, gives rise to the Existing Use Value-Social Housing (EUV-SH) for the housing stock. The Adjustment 

Factor, therefore, is the relationship between the capitalised net rent (investment value) of private dwellings and the equivalent public 

sector investment. An increase of 1% in the Adjustment Factor would reduce the value of the Council Dwellings by £14,000,000.  

 

Fair Value Measurements ï The Council uses current market conditions and recent sales prices and other relevant information for similar 

assets in the Aberdeenshire area to measure the fair value of some of its investment properties. Significant changes in any of these 

unobservable inputs would result in a significantly lower or higher fair value measurement for the investment properties. 

 

PFI and Similar Contracts - The Council is committed to three PFI contracts, as detailed in the Annex. The total unitary charge for 

2017/18 is expected to be £14,639,000. Elements of the contracts are subject to inflation. An increase in the inflation rate of 1% would 

equate to additional costs of £55,000 for the Council.     

 

Provisions - The Council has made a provision of £3,620,000 for the settlement of claims for back pay arising from the Equal Pay initiative, 

based on the number of claims received and an average settlement amount. It is not certain that all valid claims have yet been received 

by the Council or that precedents set by other authorities in the settlement of claims will be applicable. An increase over the forthcoming 

year of 10% in either the total number of claims or the estimated average settlement would each have the effect of adding £368,000 to 

the provision needed. The Council has made a provision of £6,679,000 for asset decommissioning costs relating to a number of assets 

owned by Aberdeenshire Council.  Asset decommissioning costs were recognised at the end of financial year 2015/16 for the first time. 

The provision is an estimate of costs to dismantle, remove items and to restore the related sites for 18 HWRC sites; 8 waste transfer sites; 

5 landfill sites and 2 quarries.  While the associated decommissioning costs were not settled in 2016/17 the obligation exists to settle 

these costs in future and the Council must capitalise these costs and fund from borrowing in accordance with LASAAC accounting 

guidance issued in September 2014. 
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Arrears - At 31 March 2017, the Council had a balance of sundry debtors of £9,963,000. A review of significant balances suggested that 

an allowance for doubtful debts of 48.67% (£4,849,000) was appropriate. However, in the current economic climate it is not certain that 

such an allowance would be sufficient. If collection rates were to deteriorate, an additional £996,000 would require to be set aside for each 

10% increase in the allowance. This list does not include assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value based on a recently observed  

market price. At 31 March 2017, the Council had arrears of Council Tax of £23,880,000. A review of significant balances suggested that 

an allowance for doubtful debts of £14,785,000 was appropriate. Should collection rates deteriorate by 0.1%, this would add £905,000 to 

the provision. 

 

Pension Liability ï The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to various actuarial assumptions. More details on this 

can be found in note 34. 

 

Note 5 - Note to the EFA 

 

 
Adjustments Between Funding and Accounting Basis 2016/17 

 

 
Adjustments from General Fund to Arrive at CIES Amounts 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Ãô000 

Net Change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments 

Ãô000 

Other 
Differences 

Ãô000 

Total 
Adjustments 

Ãô000 

Business Services Committee 4,870 804 668 6,342 

Communities Committee 4,348 2,072 192 6,612 

Education and Childrenôs Services Committee 44,820 873 (5,350) 40,343 

Infrastructure Services Committee 22,242 1,396 (104) 23,534 

Housing Revenue Account 165,873 572 (6,012) 160,433 

Net Cost of Services 242,153 5,717 (10,606) 237,264 

     

Other Income and Expenditure from the EFA (56,679) 8,906 9,946 (37,827) 

Difference Between General Fund (Surplus)/Deficit and CIES 
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services 

185,474 14,623 (660) 199,437 

 

Comparative Movements in 2015/16 

 

 
Adjustments from General Fund to Arrive at CIES Amounts 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Ãô000 

Net Change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments 

Ãô000 

Other 
Differences 

Ãô000 

Total 
Adjustments 

Ãô000 

Business Services Committee 9,814 2,034 (382) 11,466 

Communities Committee 14,184 3,019 (167) 17,036 

Education and Childrenôs Services Committee 44,225 2,123 (4,489) 41,859 

Infrastructure Services Committee 11,511 2,250 356 14,117 

Housing Revenue Account 19,401 828 (5,563) 14,666 

Net Cost of Services 99,135 10,254 (10,245) 99,144 

     

Other Income and Expenditure from the EFA (56,765) 9,241 9,588 (37,936) 

Difference Between General Fund (Surplus)/Deficit and CIES 
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services 

42,370 19,495 (657) 61,208 
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Note 6 ï Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 

 

The Councilôs expenditure and income is analysed as follows: 

 

Restated 
2015/16 
Ãô000  

2016/17 
Ãô000 

*373,741 Employee Benefit Expenses 385,302 

*332,399 Other Service Expenses 571,369 

*12,314 Support Service Recharges 12,723 

98,712 Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment 97,872 

*37,297 Interest Payments 38,190 

(2,068) Gain or Loss on Disposal of Non Current Assets and AHfS (1,774) 

852,395 Total Expenditure 1,103,682 

   

*(148,542) Fees, Charges and Other Service Income (260,479) 

*(856) Interest and Investment Income (625) 

(117,755) Income from Council Tax (119,646) 

*(516,108) Government Grants and Contributions (511,756) 

(783,261) Total Income (892,506) 

   

69,134 (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 211,176 

 

*Figures have been restated. See note 10 for details. 
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Note 7 - Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations 

 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure recognised by the Council in the 

year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the 

Council to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. 

 

2016/17 

General 
Fund 

Balance  
Ãô000 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 
Ãô000 

Capital 
Reserves* 

Ãô000 

Total 
Usable 

Reserves 
Ãô000 

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves 
Ãô000 

Adjustments involving the Capital Adjustment Account:      

Reversal of items debited or credited to the CIES:      

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current 
assets 

(63,634) (33,552) - (97,186) 97,186 

Revaluation losses on PPE and AHfS (20,223) (146,287) - (166,510) 166,510 

Movements in the fair value of Investment Properties (54) - - (54) 54 

Amortisation of intangible assets (603) (83) - (686) 686 

Grants and contributions used to fund capital expenditure 38,720 3,259 - 41,979 (41,979) 

Amounts of non current assets and AHfS written off on 
disposal or sale as part of the gain on disposal to the CIES 

(1,619) (2,058) - (3,677) 3,677 

      

Insertion of items not debited or credited to the CIES:      

Statutory provision for the repayment of debts  13,439 729 - 14,168 (14,168) 

Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund and 
HRA balances 

5,930 13,319 - 19,249 (19,249) 

      

Adjustments involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:      

Transfer of sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on 
disposal to the CIES 

1,879 3,572 - 5,451 (5,451) 

      

Adjustment involving the Capital Grants Unapplied 
Account: 

     

Unapplied grants and contributions transferred to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Account  

1,792 - (1,792) - - 

Grants used to fund capital expenditure transferred to the 
Capital Adjustment Account 

- - 1,287 1,287 (1,287) 

      

Adjustments involving the Financial Instruments 
Adjustment Account: 

     

Amount by which finance costs charged to the CIES are 
different from finance costs chargeable in the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements 

962 241 - 1,203 (1,203) 

      

Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve:      

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 
in the CIES (see note 34) 

(47,909) (3,326) - (51,235) 51,235 

Employerôs pensions contributions and direct payments to 
pensioners payable in the year 

34,399 2,213 - 36,612 (36,612) 

      

Adjustment involving the Employee Statutory 
Adjustment Account: 

     

Movement in annual leave earned but not used by 31 March (561) 18 - (543) 543 

Total Adjustments (37,482) (161,955) (505) (199,942) 199,942 

 
  




